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NO UNDERTAKINGS WERE FILED DURING THIS PROCEEDING

Monday, May 7, 2007


 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1--- Upon commencing at 9:30 a.m.

     MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.

     The Board is sitting today in connection with a 

Procedural Order that was issued on March 9th of this year.  This proceeding goes back to February 2005, when Union Gas 

Limited made an application pursuant to Section 36 of the 

Ontario Energy Board Act requesting, amongst other things, 

disposition of certain deferral accounts.


One of the components of that rates application concerned the treatment of the proceeds of certain sales of cushion gas which occurred in 2004.

     Union took the view that the entire proceeds of the 

sale of cushion gas in that year should be credited to itself.  Ratepayers had no legitimate claim to any portion of the money realized from the sale.  Other parties took a different position.

     When this matter originally came before the Board, the 

Supreme Court of Canada was considering a case relating to the apportionment of the proceeds of sale of the land by an 

Alberta-based utility.


Because the Board was concerned that that may have a precedent effect on this matter, this matter was deferred until the Supreme Court of Canada reached its decision with respect to the ATCO case, as it became known, and that decision by the Supreme Court of Canada was issued on May 15th, 2006.

     Subsequent to that, the Board Panel considering the original application by Union invited the party to make

proceedings on the effect of the Supreme Court of Canada's decision on this case and the distribution of proceeds from the sale of cushion gas.

     After considering those submissions, the Board rendered a decision on June 28th, 2006.

     A number of parties expressed concerns about the 

decision as being ambiguous.  Union filed a motion for 

clarification of the decision, and also filed an application for judicial review on substantially the same grounds.

     The Panel considering that rate case issued a letter of clarification on July 26, in response to the concerns of Union and others.  A number of parties took issue with the 

clarification letter itself, and as a result, the Board 

decided on its own motion and issued a Procedural Order on 

August 30th to review the original Panel's decision with a view to removing any doubt as to whether the Board had jurisdiction to order the sharing of cushion gas proceeds as between ratepayers and shareholders.

     That is the matter that we are scheduled to hear today.

     May we have the appearances, please?


APPEARANCES:
     MR. PENNY:  Mr. Chairman, my name is Michael Penny.  

I'm counsel for Union Gas.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

     MR. PENNY:  With me are Mr. Packer and Mr. Ripley from  

Union Gas.

     MR. MILLAR:  Michael Millar, counsel from Board Staff.  With me is Mr. Khalil Viraney.

     MS. BODNAR:  Barbara Bodnar for Enbridge Gas Distribution.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

     MR. AIKEN:  Randy Aiken for --(off-mic)


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.  John DeVellis for School Energy Coalition.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. DeVellis.

     MR. WARREN:  Robert Warren for the Consumers' Council of Canada.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Warren.

     MR. DeROSE:  Vince DeRose for the Industrial Gas Users Association.  Good morning.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

     MR. RYDER:  Alick Ryder for the City of Kitchener, and with me is Mr. James Gruenbauer of the City of Kitchener.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Ryder.

     MR. WIGHTMAN:  James Wightman on behalf of VECC.  And 

I'd like to enter an appearance for Mr. Buonaguro, who's at the hearing next door.  He'll be joining us later.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

     MR. PENNY:  These are the witnesses, Mr. Chairman.  

I'll introduce them.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Mr. Millar, how do you want to proceed?

     MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, we had some brief off-line 

discussions before you came in this morning.  I understand -- I think the position of the parties is, there's probably between an hour and two hours of cross-examination.  The hope is to finish the entire case today, if we can.


I think the proposal is to try and get through the witnesses in the morning, and then either have Mr. Penny present his argument in-chief, perhaps even before lunch, or, if not, we would wait 'til after lunch, and in any event hope to finish the entire proceeding today.

     MR. MILLAR:  All right.  Mr. Penny.

     MR. PENNY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  We have with us 

three witnesses from Union Gas, and with your leave I'll 

introduce them, and we can commence.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

     MR. PENNY:  Before you, from Union Gas, appearing today, Mr. Chairman, are Ms. Elliott, Mr. Baker, and Mr. Poredos, each of whom is well-known to the Board and have appeared before you before.


EXAMINATION BY MR. PENNY:
     MR. PENNY:  Ms. Elliott, you are currently the director of accounting and internal controls at Union Gas?

     MR. KAISER:  Do you want to swear the witnesses first?

     MR. PENNY:  Oh, absolutely.


UNION GAS LIMITED - PANEL 1:

     Patricia Elliott; Sworn.

     Steve Baker; Sworn.

     Steve Poredos; Sworn.
     MR. PENNY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I should have 

actually said, by way of preliminary, that there were some 

undertakings given at the Technical Conference which were 

filed in advance electronically.  Those already have exhibit numbers in the proceeding, so I don't think it's necessary to identify those.  We have some extra copies.  I don't know if the Board has copies of those for -- but we can provide them if you don't.

     And the only other thing that we filed in advance, which I believe has not been given an exhibit number in these proceedings, are the three CVs.  Those we also filed 

electronically.  I wondered if those CVs might be given an exhibit number.

     MR. KAISER:  What number, Mr. Millar?

     MR. MILLAR:  I think we can mark them jointly, Mr. Chair.  We'll call it Exhibit K1.1.  And these are the CV's for the Union witness panel.

     EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  CVs FOR THE UNION WITNESS PANEL
     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

     MR. PENNY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

     So, Ms. Elliott, coming back to you, you are currently 

the director of accounting and internal controls for Union 

Gas?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

     MR. PENNY:  And you've been with Union Gas in various financial and rate roles since 1981, I understand?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct; yes.

     MR. PENNY:  And you are a chartered accountant?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

     MR. PENNY:  And have a Bachelor of Mathematics from the University of Waterloo?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

     MR. PENNY:  And I understand you have appeared before 

the Energy Board in numerous proceedings?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct; yes.

     MR. PENNY:  On behalf of Union Gas?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

     MR. PENNY:  And I understand that you were involved in 

the preparation of the evidence that has been filed in relation to this matter?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, I was.

     MR. PENNY:  And do you adopt that evidence?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, I do.

     MR. PENNY:  Mr. Baker, you are currently vice-president, business development and commercial accounts for Union Gas?


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

     MR. PENNY:  And you've been with Union Gas in various 

operational and financial positions since 1989, I understand?


MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

     MR. PENNY:  You are also a chartered accountant?

     MR. BAKER:  Yes.

     MR. PENNY:  You have a Master of Accounting from the 

University of Waterloo?

     MR. BAKER:  I do.

     MR. PENNY:  And you also have appeared before the Board on numerous occasions on behalf of Union Gas?

     MR. BAKER:  Yes, I have.

     MR. PENNY:  And you were involved in the preparation of evidence filed in these proceedings?


MR. BAKER:  I was.

     MR. PENNY:  And do you adopt that evidence?


MR. BAKER:  I do.

     MR. PENNY:  Thank you.


And Mr. Poredos, you are currently the director of capacity and management for Union Gas?

     MR. POREDOS:  Yes, that's correct.

     MR. PENNY:  And you've held that position, I gather, since 2002?

     MR. POREDOS:  Yes.

     MR. PENNY:  And you have been with Union Gas in various positions on the -- related to the operations of Union Gas, I should say, since 1980?

     MR. POREDOS:  That's correct.

     MR. PENNY:  And you have both a Bachelor of Engineering and a Bachelor of Commerce, I understand?

     MR. POREDOS:  That's correct.

     MR. PENNY:  And you also have appeared before the 

Energy Board on behalf of Union Gas on numerous prior 

occasions?

     MR. POREDOS:  Yes, I have.

     MR. PENNY:  And you were involved in the preparation of the evidence filed in these proceedings?

     MR. POREDOS:  Yes, I was.

     MR. PENNY:  And do you adopt that evidence?

     MR. POREDOS:  I do.

     MR. PENNY:  Thank you. 


Mr. Chairman, as you noted this morning, this matter has been outstanding for a considerable period of time and the evidence has been available.  I have no questions in examination-in-chief, so the witnesses are available for cross-examination.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


Mr. Millar, what's the order?

     MR. MILLAR:  I personally have no questions for this Panel, so I'm not sure who plans to go first amongst the 

intervenors.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Warren?

     MR. WARREN:  I'm happy to go, sir.

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WARREN:

MR. WARREN:  Panel, I have just a few questions for you of a general nature, and I apologize for their simplicity, but am I right, Panel, in understanding that, whether it's as a matter of physics or chemistry, there is no difference between cushion gas and gas distribution which is used for sale to customers?

     MR. POREDOS:  The only difference being the cushion gas is an asset, and it involves both the space and the 

molecule.

     MR. WARREN:  Thank you for that, Mr. Poredos, but I 

guess to put the question in terms which I can understand, 

I could use cushion gas to fire my furnace and light my stove and that sort of thing; is that right?

     MR. POREDOS:  Once cushion gas is no longer required to be the base pressure gas, that gas can be burned.  It's 

natural gas.

     MR. WARREN:  Thank you, sir.  And am I right in my 

understanding -- I didn't go back over the ancient history 

of this, so I may have this wrong, for which I apologize, but do I understand it that the cushion gas was sold to a 

related company; is that correct?

     MR. POREDOS:  The cushion gas, the asset was 

transferred to a related company, yes.

     MR. WARREN:  That related company is not in the gas distribution business; is that right?

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

     MR. WARREN:  Would I be correct in understanding, 

Mr. Baker, that it was sold ultimately to somebody who used 

it for -- not for cushion gas but -- I'm searching for the right distinction -- not for cushion gas, but for gases used in the ordinary course of furnaces and stoves and that 

kind of thing?

     MR. BAKER:  It was sold into the marketplace, that's 

right.

     MR. WARREN:  Am I right, sir, in my understanding that on an annual basis -- and I don't need to refer to any particular year -- but on an annual basis, Union forecasts its need for gas for its customers and on that forecast purchases gas and puts it into storage, and then, as the needs arise over the course of the winter, it removes the gas from storage and distributes it throughout its system; is that correct?

     MR. BAKER:  Yes, that's correct.

     MR. WARREN:  I take it that that usual pattern has 

obtained for a number of years and has obtained certainly the period of 2004 and following, correct?

     MR. BAKER:  Sorry, could you repeat that?  Did you say 

maintained?

     MR. WARREN:  That usual pattern of doing business has 

been the same for a number of years and has been the case 

since 2004; is that correct?

     MR. BAKER:  Yes, that's correct.

     MR. WARREN:  Can you tell me, Panel, if there is 

anything that would have prevented Union Gas from taking the cushion gas and using it for its customers as natural gas distributed throughout the system?  Is there anything technical or mechanical that would have prevented Union Gas from doing that?

     MR. POREDOS:  Union Gas would have the gas supply plant in place.  As I said, it's maintained a normal business.  Therefore we already had sufficient gas coming into the franchise and it’s set to be stored, so there was no need to use the cushion gas if we were to decide to use it in that fashion.

     MR. WARREN:  I appreciate that answer, Mr. Poredos, but my question was narrower than that.  Is there anything about the physical makeup of the gas that would have prevented you, had you had the need, from using that cushion gas for the needs of your customers over the 

course of 2004/2005 or whenever the need arose?  And I take 

it the answer to that is no?

     MR. POREDOS:  From a technical standpoint, no, there 

would be nothing preventing us from doing that.

     MR. WARREN:  Now, just some chronology.  In looking over the transcript of the Technical Conference, as I understand it, the book value of the cushion gas -- and I'm not an accountant so I apologize if I don't get this right, Ms. Elliott -- the book value of this before the sale was some $700,000; is that correct?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.  It was $664,000.

     MR. WARREN:  And can you tell me, is there a date at which this cushion gas was purchased in one lump, or was it purchased in increments over a period of time?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  It came out of four separate storage pools, so it would have been put on the books, at least, in 

four separate intervals.

     MR. WARREN:  Can you tell me roughly when those intervals would have been chronologically, Ms. Elliott?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  I don't have those dates.

     MR. WARREN:  Would it have been prior to -- obviously 

it would have been prior to 2004?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, it would have been prior to 2004.

     MR. WARREN:  And are we looking at far back as, say, 2000 or 1995, roughly?  I appreciate that you can't give me the exact dates.

     MS. ELLIOTT:  I think that the cost of that gas, it was probably put in place in the 1990s, if not sooner.

     MR. WARREN:  Those are my questions.  Thank you very 

much, Panel.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  Who is next?  Mr. Ryder?

     MR. RYDER:  I have no questions, thank you.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Aiken?

     MR. AIKEN:  Yes, I have a number of questions.

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. AIKEN:

     MR. AIKEN:  Most of my questions will be centred around Exhibit A, tab 2, of the original evidence filed in February of 2005.

     Starting at page 33 there's a statement here, and I'll quote:

"Union determined that the most prudent approach would be to consider reductions -- i.e., sales of the so-called surplus gas, cushion gas, in various transactions over time."

     The evidence then goes on to indicate that there were two transactions during the winter of 2001/2002 totalling, I believe, 2.1 pJs.  The transaction in 2004 for 1.6 pJs and possible future transactions related to the remaining 2.7 pJs that are surplus to Union's needs.

     My first question is, has Union sold any of this 2.7 

petaJoules to date, the remaining 2.7? 

MR. POREDOS:  No, it has not.

     MR. AIKEN:  Given storage withdrawal season for this 

past winter is now over, has Union done any analysis to 

confirm that that 2.7 petaJoules is available for sale?     

   
MR. POREDOS:  Operating storage pools and looking at the pools’ operations and the geology of that is a normal course of business for Union Gas.  We do that every year, every storage season.  We will do that as normal course of business.  However, before coming to the hearing, I did ask our storage operations people as to any impacts of the cushion gas which has already been removed, if there were any implications on the storage operations.  We did not find any implications, that there was any issue.

     MR. BAKER:  Just to be clear, for the remaining 2.7 pJs of cushion gas that's available, since the 2004 sale, we have not gotten down into those reservoirs and operated to the minimum pressure.  Therefore we haven’t satisfied that condition to proceed with any further sales of cushion gas.

     MR. AIKEN:  In addition to the 6.4 petaJoules that 

Union has identified as being surplus, or potentially being surplus, is it possible in the future that Union may determine that it had additional cushion gas that it can sell due to technological changes, things like using nitrogen or carbon dioxide in place of cushion gas?

     MR. POREDOS:  I suppose that's possible, but Union has 

not been evaluating those options, nor have we been involved in discussions about doing those types of options.  In the future, technology may create taunt to do more.

     MR. AIKEN:  In light of these past transactions and 

these potential future transactions, is this likely to 

become a recurring event?  I guess my question is, you've had three sales of cushion gas since 2001.  You have another potential sale for 2.7, plus something perhaps more in the future.  Is this an ongoing activity that Union looks at?

     MR. BAKER:  I wouldn't classify it as recurring, for the reasons that we've talked about, where we need to get 

experience in the pool where we sold the cushion, operating 

at that new minimum pressure, before we would proceed to 

look at it.  But at this point in time, we've identified 

nothing further than the 6.4 pJs that was originally put 

forward.

     MR. AIKEN:  So you would call this a non-recurring 

situation or a non-recurring opportunity for Union?

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

     MR. AIKEN:  At the bottom of page 33 of Exhibit A, tab 

2, and on to the following page, Union indicates that this 

surplus cushion gas was no longer necessary to serve the 

public.

Did Union ever consider transferring or reclassifying some or all of this gas to its system-gas customers at cost, and if not, why not?

     MR. BAKER:  No, we did not, because it was not working gas available for sale.  It was an asset that was recorded in our books, and we accounted for it as such, following both the uniform system of accounts and Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.

     MR. AIKEN:  At the Technical Conference -- and I believe it was on page 15 -- Ms. Elliott, I think this was a response from you to Mr. DeRose.  Union's had the opportunity to sell load-balancing gas to some customers as they went unbundled.  And I believe your response was, you sold that gas to them at book value; is that correct?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.  We've had two situations where the customer who was under a bundled service was using the balancing gas, moved to unbundled service, and was required to bring in their own gas for balancing.  So we transferred or sold the balancing gas that they were using to them at book value.

     MR. AIKEN:  Now, is load-balancing gas a non-depreciable asset?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, it is.

     MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Page 41, line 10, this gets into 

some of the accounting.  And the evidence states:

"Gains or losses on the sale of depreciable assets are principally associated with the rate at which assets are depreciated.  For example, a gain reflects value in a depreciable asset beyond its estimated service life.  The gain will then result in a reduction in future depreciation rates."

     Now, in relation to that statement, I want to make reference to some material I have provided this morning.  Perhaps we could give that an exhibit number.

     This is a five-page document.  I provided Mr. Penny and Mr. Packer with copies on Friday and Mr. Millar this morning.

     MR. KAISER:  Is that K1.2?

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes, we'll call that K1.2, and I'll bring 

it up, Mr. Chair.  And pardon me, Mr. Chair, we'll call it the -- what would you call this, Mr. Aiken?  Depreciable 

plant retirement chart?

     MR. AIKEN:  I would just call it cross-examination 

materials from the LPMA.

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

     EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  CROSS-EXAMINATION MATERIALS FROM THE LPMA
     MR. AIKEN:  My first question is on the first page, which is --

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Aiken, I wonder if we could get a copy of that before we proceed.

     MR. AIKEN:  Oh, sorry.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

     MR. AIKEN:  The first question is on the first page, 

where it's labelled "depreciable plant retirement".  And I 

just want to get your comments going through the three scenarios there, Ms. Elliott, to make sure this is the way 

the accounting is done for a depreciable asset.

     On line 13, the first example, sale at net book value, and the net sale book value is -- the asset is sold for $30.  Have I got the accounting done properly there?  Essentially, the net book value drops by the undepreciated value of that asset?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  The result of the calculation is correct.  There would have been an entry for the proceeds on disposition, but the impact of a sale at book value is, basically, the elimination of the asset.

     MR. AIKEN:  And then the second example, starting at line 24, where it's sold at less than net book value, is the impact there correctly reflected?  I.e., the rate base is not decreased by as much?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct; yes.

     MR. AIKEN:  And then, based on your evidence, that 

would mean that in future, the depreciation rates would be 

higher?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct; yes.

     MR. AIKEN:  And then the third example where the net sale book value is higher than the net book value, that results in a lower rate base and then, in future, lower 

depreciation rates?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

     MR. AIKEN:  If you look at the second page now, this is the non-depreciable plant retirement.  My understanding is that this is essentially Union's proposal, and I'll skip right down to the third scenario, where the asset is sold at more than the original cost.  And that extra, in this case, ten units, or $10, that goes into "other income."  Is that correct?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.  Yes.

     MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Thank you.


Back on Exhibit A, tab 2, page 44 near the bottom, it talks about the accounting treatment, and the statement is made that the accounting treatment for 2004 -- or, sorry, for 2002, and it's no different than that for 2004.

     Now, I want to refer you to the third page of Exhibit K1.2.  And this comes from the 2004 rate case filing.

     My first question is that in 2002, the gain from cushion gas sales was included in utility income; is that correct?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  It was included in other revenue and not adjusted out to produce this presentation of utility income; that's correct.

     MR. AIKEN:  So specifically, on line 3, "other revenue", under the "utility income" column, the 26,046, that included the gain from the sale of cushion gas?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.  And it also included a 

number of losses on other assets.

     MR. AIKEN:  And that would be shown on the fourth page 

of Exhibit K1.2?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

     MR. AIKEN:  And that's where specifically at line 9 you see the inclusion of the cushion gas sales?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct; yes.

     MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Thank you.


And was the cushion gas sale in 2001 included in the utility income for earnings-sharing calculation purposes?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  Sorry, the premise of your question is that earnings-sharing was based on utility income?  Earnings-sharing for 2001, 2002, and 2003 was based on actual income.

     MR. AIKEN:  So the cushion gas was included in the income for earnings-sharing calculation purposes?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  It was included in the total income that went into the earnings-sharing calculation, and in neither of those years was there any earnings to be shared, so there was no basis for removing it.

     MR. AIKEN:  If you would turn to Appendix B of Exhibit A, tab 2.  This is the pro forma statement of income for 2003.  And I'm looking specifically now at page 1 of 5.

     The net income at the bottom of that schedule, line 24, is $122,668.  Does this figure have included in it --

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, Mr. Aiken, I don't know which button to push.  Can you just give that reference again so that I can find that?

     MR. AIKEN:  Yes, it's Exhibit A, tab 2, Appendix B, 

Schedule 1, page 105.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  I think I might have turned 

off your mic.  You might have to turn it on again.

     MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  It's nice to have power.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  I don't really know how to work it, though.  That's the problem.

     MR. AIKEN:  Line 24 of that schedule, it has income of 122,668, and that includes, at line 5, other revenue of 32,835.


My question is, does that line, does that other revenue, include the impact of disposition of non-depreciable assets?  Not just cushion gas, but non-depreciable assets in total?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.  This is a corporate income statement for the year 2003.  And to the extent that there was a gain or loss on the sale of non-depreciable assets, it would be in line 5, "other revenue".

     MR. AIKEN:  And then, turning to Schedule 2 in Appendix B, this is the actual earnings-sharing calculation, where it starts off with the corporate earnings, makes a number of adjustments.


So it's starting with the same figure, the 122,668, which has the impact of any non-depreciable assets in it; is that correct?  Am I following this?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.  That's correct.

     MR. AIKEN:  So this calculation is consistent with what you did in 2001 and 2002?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.

     MR. AIKEN:  Just to make the record clearer, if you 

look at Exhibit B8.1, this was a response to the School 

Energy Coalition.  On the second page of that, our reply, it shows that in 2003 there is actually a loss of 124,000 on the disposition of non-depreciable assets; is that correct?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.  There is a small loss of 124,000 that was not adjusted out of the earnings-sharing calculation.

     MR. AIKEN:  My next question deals with the response in Exhibit B4.11.  I'm not sure you have to turn it up.  That response deals with the allocation of a capital gain 

associated with the cushion gas sale if the Board were to 

credit some or all of the gain to ratepayers.  And in the 

reply, Union recommends using the allocation of cushion gas 

in the 2004 approved rates.

     My question is, does Union still believe that is the 

most appropriate allocation, if there is something to 

allocate to ratepayers, or would there be another 

methodology that Union would be proposing?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  I think the 2004 cushion gas is probably 

the most appropriate allocator, yes.

     MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. DeVellis, do you have 

anything?

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DeVELLIS:

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  Good morning, panel.  John DeVellis with School Energy Coalition.  My first question is a clarification with respect to a question asked by my friend Mr. Warren.  He asked you about the book value of the cushion gas that was sold, and I think he put to you an amount of 700,000.  I think that was specifically for the sale that occurred in 2004, not for all of the cushion gas that was sold.

     MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.  It's the book value of 

the 2004 cushion gas sale.

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  At Undertaking JT5, you have given the value of 664,000 as the book value?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.

     Mr. Aiken asked you about using nitrogen or carbon 

dioxide in place of cushion gas, in place of pressure 

provided by cushion gas in your storage pools.  Now, if 

Union decided to do that, that would mean higher costs to  

ratepayers, wouldn't it?

     MR. BAKER:  No, I would say that's not correct, going 

forward.  A -- we have not looked at any of that stuff, as we had said, but going forward, to the extent that there was some new change in technology that would... I'm not sure what I did.

     If there was something like that, then we would view that as something that we would look to and manage outside of rates based on the Board's NGEIR storage decision.

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  With respect to these two sales of 

cushion gas, I understand it was Union staff that did the 

examinations or the inspections, to determine whether or not the pressure was sufficient at the lower levels to enable you to conduct a sale?

     MR. POREDOS:  Yes, that's correct.

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  In terms of actually carrying out this transaction, that was also Union staff?

     MR. POREDOS:  Yes.

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  And their salaries would also be included in rates paid by ratepayers?

     MR. POREDOS:  It would be the normal allocation.

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  And back when the asset was purchased, it would also be Union's staff, utility staff, to determine whether or not you need the asset to purchase?

     MR. POREDOS:  Sorry, the question is?

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  Back when the cushion gas was purchased 

to put in storage pools, it would have been Union Gas utility employees involved in making that determination of 

the need for that asset?

     MR. POREDOS:  To the extent that when we're developing 

the new pool there had to be incremental gas that needed to be purchased, and if there wasn't sufficient native gas in the ground, it would be Union's personnel that would make that determination; that's correct.

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  All along the way between that point, between the initial determination and the final determination that you could sell it, you have ongoing 

inspection or maintenance costs, examining the storage 

pools, to see whether the pressure was sufficient, et 

cetera, and those would all be carried out by utility 

employees?

     MR. POREDOS:  The operation of the storage pools is 

carried out by Union Gas employees; that's correct.  But 

that's normal course of business.  I mean, we have to do 

that every day to ensure that the pools are operating 

safely, with integrity, and so forth.  So it's not as if we 

had additional staff on hand to manage this small piece of 

the business, so to speak.

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  Okay.

     MR. BAKER:  I would also make the point as well that the storage that was freed up as a result of the cushion gas sales was accounted for through our S&T deferral account revenues as well.  So the revenue that was sold or earned as a result of that additional storage being created was recorded and the majority of that did go back to ratepayers.

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  I want to ask you about that, and I was 

going to ask you later, but I'll ask you now since you 

brought it up.

     I asked in the Technical Conference for an undertaking –- let me pull it up here -- JT4, to estimate the value of the incremental storage for 2004, had it been forecast in 2003.  Do you recall that undertaking?

     MR. POREDOS:  Yes, I do.

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  Just for the Panel's information, the questions that preceded that were to try and get you to identify when it was that you had identified that you had excess storage, and I believe you said at the Technical Conference that you had all the information you needed in early 2003.

     MR. POREDOS:  In 2003 Union had the technical 

information because we had actually operated to that lower 

level, so from a technical standpoint Union could have made 

the decision.

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  I think I asked you whether or not there was anything new that came up between early 2003 and 2004, when you actually made the sale, and you said there was not.

     MR. POREDOS:  That's correct.

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  And the Undertaking JT4, you have 

estimated the value of the storage space that would have 

been added to your forecast, and the value that you came up 

with was a difference between the 90 percent of storage 

revenue that would have been accredited to aerospace, had 

you forecasted it, and 75 percent, which is the amount that went to ratepayers as a result of it being added to storage revenue in 2004 but not being forecasted.

     MR. POREDOS:  Yes, that's correct.

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  And the amount that you stated in your 

undertaking response was $48,000 in 2004, and that's because the sale occurred in 2004, so you missed the first half of the season, but for 2005 and 2006, it was $65,000.

     MR. POREDOS:  I guess the only issue I'd have with that is that we didn't miss the first half of the season.  

Storage contracts will start in the April time frame, during the injection season.  That's why there are only nine months of revenue during that year.

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  The total of those three is $179,251.  Would you take that subject to check?

     MR. POREDOS:  Yes, I will.

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  And that is the cost to ratepayers of not having forecasted the extra storage?

     MR. POREDOS:  Again, I would just say that we couldn't 

forecast it because we didn't have the storage available to 

forecast.

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  And that was purely because you sold the asset in May of 2004, as opposed to a year earlier?

     MR. POREDOS:  That's correct.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.


Now, if we go to Exhibit KT.1, which I believe was also in Mr. Aiken's package, but this was an exhibit marked at the Technical Conference, KT.1.  And it was originally Exhibit J18.28.

     MR. PENNY:  I'm not sure the witnesses will have that.

     MR. POREDOS:  Is it JT.1?

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  It's KT.1.  It was an exhibit entered at the -- I believe Mr. Gruenbauer entered it as an exhibit at the Technical Conference.

     If you have Mr. Aiken's package, it's the last page of --

     MR. POREDOS:  Yes, I have it.

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  That's easier.  And I notice the response to (c), the volume of cushion gas in rate base increased between 1999 and 2000?

     MR. POREDOS:  Sorry, is that your question?

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  Well, yes.

     MR. POREDOS:  Yes, it did.

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And is that because you purchased cushion gas during that time?

     MR. POREDOS:  That was during development of some pools we were working on, century pools, Phase I and Phase II, during that period, and it would have been gas that would have been allocated to cushion gas in that pool development as capital.

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And the value of that cushion gas would have been at the value at the time -- the value added to rate base at that time would have been the price of the cushion gas at that time?

     MR. POREDOS:  Again, I don't have the specifics whether it was native gas which we would have purchased from the original owner at a price, or whether we would have purchased it off the -- from the market to include in the pool.

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  And if there was -- if it did cost more than the book value of the gas that you eventually sold, it would be a net increase to the rate base?

     MR. POREDOS:  Sorry, could you repeat that?

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  If the gas you purchased in 2000, or '99/2000, had a cost that was more than the book value of the gas that you eventually sold in 2001 and 2002, the result of all of that would be a net increase to the rate base?

     MR. POREDOS:  I think what you're suggesting is that if we purchased the gas for those pools and then subsequently resold it, and there might be an increase in the market price compared to the book value, yes, there would be a gain on it.

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  Well, I'm not sure that that's correct -- if that was my question.  My question is: if you purchased gas in 2000 at a higher price, and then you sell different gas in a different storage pool in 2001 at a lower price, the result is a net increase in rate base.

     MR. BAKER:  I just wanted to clarify that when we're looking at a new pool development, so as Mr. Poredos said, century pools, Phase I and Phase II, the majority of the cushion gas as part of a new development is gas that we purchase in place, so it's native gas associated with that reservoir.


So we would have been looking at this development far in advance of actual 2002, it going into service.  So it would have been gas that we would have purchased largely as a result of that pool development, leading up to what was the actual in-service date of that new storage, which was 2002.  And that's the period of time that it went into rate 

base.

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  Mr. Wightman asked you at the Technical 

Conference, beginning at page 38 -- I don't think you have to look it up -- but whether your dehydration costs went up because you now have less cushion gas.  And your answer was:

"If there is any variable costs, they are so small, they would be negligible."


And I just want to ask you what that means, when you say "negligible".  Is it more than 100,000 a year, for example, or less?

     MR. POREDOS:  I believe it would be less than $100,000.  You're talking variable costs, not including the question on compressor fuel?  On the dehydration it would be under $100,000.

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And would you also have -- you mentioned compressor fuel.  Would that be another way of increasing pressure if you needed extra pressure?


MR. POREDOS:  No, I'm talking about the interrogatory that -- or, sorry, the undertaking at the Technical Conference, which is JT.2.

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  My final question is in relation to Exhibit B9.15.  And answer -- Part B of that response, you give the current pressure for pools operated by Union?

     MR. BAKER:  Yes, that's correct.

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  And in Part C you give the design-day pressure in each storage pool?

     MR. BAKER:  Yes, that's correct.

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  And the pressure is higher -- the design-day pressure is higher than the actual pressure?

     MR. BAKER:  The design-day pressure is the pressure in the pools on March the 1st, which is our design-day for storage.


So you would obviously have -- still have storage -- or, sorry, still have gas in the ground at that point in time, because you have to get through March, and the March 1st inventory is what we require to service all the firm contracts at that point in time.


I think it's illustrated in the attachment to the supplemental evidence, that diagram of the pool turnover.  It's Exhibit 29.34, Attachment 1, with the supplementary evidence.

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Well, my question was going to be, how do you get the pressure from the existing pressure to the design-day pressure?  How do you get the pressure up?

     MR. POREDOS:  Sorry, the design-day pressure is March the 1st.  The cushion gas minimum pressure is a pressure at the lowest point at any time, normally March 31st.  So you're at a higher pressure on March 1st.  You're at your lowest pressure for the year at March 31st, or thereabouts.

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


Mr. DeRose?

     MR. DeROSE:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. DeRose, do you want to move up here?  Will that help you see the witnesses better?

     MR. DeROSE:  I have very few questions --

     MR. KAISER:  All right.

     MR. DeROSE:  -- Mr. Chair, so I can probably ask them in the time it would take to move, but thank you.

    
CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DeROSE:
     MR. DeROSE:  First of all, Panel, I want to just follow up on a question which Mr. Warren asked you with respect to whether Union was prevented from, for technical reasons, from using the cushion gas for customers.


And I believe your answer was that, under the 2004 gas supply plan, you already had sufficient gas, and that there was no need to use the cushion gas; is that correct?

     MR. POREDOS:  The supply plan is done well ahead of time.  We would have had capacity from Calgary, capacity from the US, and supply that was already planned for the year, so there was no incremental requirement.

     MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Approximately when would your 2004 gas supply plan be developed?

     MR. POREDOS:  Sorry, for which period?

     MR. DeROSE:  Your 2004.  I believe your gas supply plans are on fiscal years, correct?

     MR. POREDOS:  Well, the gas supply plans, in fact, are longer-term.  They are -- we buy capacity on pipelines from one year to 15 or 20 years.  So the gas supply plan includes a large asset variation.  You have several types of supplies coming in and several types of periods -- or several periods that you would be planning this on.

     MR. DeROSE:  But on an annual basis you will normally, under cost of service, come in with a forecast and a gas supply plan that you seek Board approval for, correct?

     MR. BAKER:  Yes, we typically look at a gas supply plan in the summer of the preceding year.  And we typically  

look at a gas year, so we typically look from November 1 to November 1 for 2004.  For 2004, we would have been looking at the gas supply plan and how it was shaping up back at least in the summer of the prior year.

     MR. DeROSE:  So summer of 2003?

     MR. BAKER:  Yes.

     MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.  You had identified the 

excess cushion gas as early as 2001; correct?  The 6.7 

pJ, I believe?

     MR. POREDOS:  We had identified from a technical 

standpoint that, yes, we had operated down into the next 

layer of cushion gas, yes.

     MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.  If I can --

     MR. BAKER:  Sorry, I just wanted to clarify.  At that 

point in time, we identified what we thought was 6.4 pJs of 

cushion that we could remove.  But what we wanted to do and 

the way we set it up was to go at that in tranches so that we could get operational experience, operating each of those reservoirs at the lower pressure before we would proceed to sell any further amounts out of that 6.4 pJs.

     MR. DeROSE:  You had already sold some of the cushion gas prior to the summer of 2003; correct?

     MR. BAKER:  Yes, we sold the first amount of it in 

2001/2002.

     MR. DeROSE:  And so, at a high level, the excess 

cushion gas would have been on your radar when you were 

preparing your gas supply plan for 2004?  You knew that 

there was excess, you had already sold some, and you were 

seeing if it was operationally feasible.

     MR. BAKER:  I think what we said in the Technical 

Conference is that we did have experience operating the 

pools at the lower levels of the cushion sales that we had 

in 2001/2002, out of the winter of 2003.

     MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.

     If I can turn you to Exhibit B4.9.  Panel, this is 

an interrogatory asked by IGUA, where you set out two 

circumstances that could give rise to a requirement for 

Union to acquire additional cushion gas, and I have a 

clarification on (a), which sets out,  "In the event that Union required additional cushion gas from its existing storage pool," and to address various technical issues, how the costs associated with acquiring that cushion gas would be borne by Union.

     I would like to walk through a scenario so that I can understand that with you.

     First of all, the sale we're dealing with today is 

approximately 1.6 pJs; correct?

     MR. POREDOS:  Yes, that's correct.

     MR. DeROSE:  Would anyone on the Panel be able to 

provide an estimate of what it would cost to purchase 1.6 

pJs today, if you had to inject that same amount back in for cushion gas?

     MR. BAKER:  Yes, I would say if you took an estimated 

market price of, say, $9 a gJ, so $9 times the 1.6 million 

gJs, that would get you the amount.  Whatever that math is -- $14 million, approximately.

     MR. DeROSE:  I don't need the exact figure.  If 

you're comfortable working with 14 million, so am I.

     I take it from that answer that the $14 million expense of purchasing that gas would be borne by Union, not by the ratepayer; correct?

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.  We said that as a result 

of pursuing the cushion gas reductions and freeing up the 

additional storage space, that, should there be a 

requirement based on our operating experience that we needed to put the cushion gas back in, that that would be something that we would incur.

     MR. DeROSE:  And am I right to assume that your rate base would then increase by the $14 million?

     MR. BAKER:  No, I think what it says in that response 

is that Union would bear that cost as a company, and therefore it would not go into rate base.

     MR. DeROSE:  You would not look for any return on 

any gas that Union would purchase to inject into storage for cushion gas, from now into the future?

     MR. BAKER:  On that particular amount; that's correct.  I think that's really why we chose to look at the cushion gas sales the way we did.  We did not want to do it all in one large sale.  We wanted to do it in pieces to get the operational experience, make sure that the pools were operating as we had projected at the lower pressures before we would entertain any additional cushion sales.

     MR. DeROSE:  If you were to reinject, let's say, 1.6 pJ, how would you account for that gas?  What would it be under your uniform system of accounts?

     MR. BAKER:  I'll let Ms. Elliott -- it will be cushion gas, it's just that it would not form part of rate base and what we would be seeking rate recovery on.

     MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.

     Those are all my questions.  Thank you.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Wightman, do you have 

anything?

     MR. WIGHTMAN:  VECC has no questions.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Anyone else with questions?  

Mr. Penny?

RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. PENNY:

     MR. PENNY:  Ms. Elliott, you were asked a question by 

Mr. Aiken that related to some questions that were requested at the Technical Conference about load-balancing gas, and you were asked whether load-balancing gas was a 

non-depreciable asset.  What I wanted to ask you was why 

you transferred the load -- first of all, whether 

load-balancing gas is considered cushion gas or a capital 

asset of any kind; and secondly, why it was transferred to 

the customers at cost?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  The load-balancing gas is not part of the property, plant, and equipment account.  It's not considered cushion gas.  It was at one point in inventory available for sale when the customers were all sale customers.  As those customers moved to direct purchase, it became gas that they used in return, just to balance their supply and their demand throughout the year.

     It turns over once a year, and it's used by the 

customers.  When those customers went to unbundled service, 

they were required to purchase their own gas.  In fact, we 

had this gas purchased for their balancing service as sales 

customers moved to a balancing service as a bundled customer, and then sold it to them at its book value for 

unbundled service, so it was really just a natural progression for that gas.

     MR. PENNY:  Thank you.  And you were asked also, I 

think by Mr. Aiken, about the corporate income statement, and Exhibit A2-B, schedule 1, which was at page 48 of the record, and he indicated to you that there was a capital loss recorded in the income statement of $124,000 in 2003.  And you said, yes, that was not adjusted out.  My question is, why was that not adjusted out?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  It's really the size of the loss at 

$124,000.  It wouldn't have been a material adjustment in 

looking at the adjustments that were made to earnings.  It’s not material.

     MR. PENNY:  Was it something that you would have even 

noticed at the time?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  Not necessarily.  No.

     MR. PENNY:  Finally, Mr. Poredos, you were asked a 

question, I believe, by Mr. DeVellis which again related to 

a topic that was addressed in the Technical Conference about any increase in dehydration costs.  And he put to you a statement that you had made that if there were any increases they would be negligible.

     First of all, is Union aware of any increase in 

dehydration costs as a result of the cushion gas sale?

     MR. POREDOS:  No, we're not.

     MR. PENNY:  What is Union's best belief about whether there is any increase?

     MR. POREDOS:  As I said at the Technical Conference, we believe they are negligible or de minimis, because we cannot measure them, so to speak; they're that small. There may be some, but it's certainly not something that we would be able to track.


MR. PENNY:  All right.  Thank you.  Those are my --

     MR. BAKER:  I was just going to add to that point that 

the storage that was made available as a result of the sale 

of cushion gas was sold into the market as ex-franchise storage service, and the parameters of that service are that it is sold with interruptible deliverability from the period March 1 through to the end of April.


So our dehydration costs or dehydration capacity is based on our peak day capacity associated with getting gas out of the reservoirs.  And given the fact that we sold that service ex-franchise, under a service which does not have firm withdrawals on that period, would say to me that we are not incurring any additional dehydration costs with respect to that storage.

     MR. PENNY:  Thank you, witnesses, and thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Those are my questions.


QUESTIONS BY THE BOARD:
     MR. VLAHOS:  Panel, just one question.  Mr. Baker, you did not integrate the surplus cushion gas in the 2004 gas supply plan, and you provided the reasons for it.  I believe Mr. Poredos did as well.

     My question is, what could have happened if you did integrate that cushion gas in the 2000 supply plan?  If you were allowed to, if circumstances would have allowed you to integrate it, then what turns on it?  What is the significance of it from a rate-making point of view?

     MR. BAKER:  In my view, I don't think there would be much that would turn on it, because again, we would take the view that it is our asset.  So to the extent that we transferred it into our gas supply plan, we would have transferred it in at the fair market value, and we would have recorded the same gain as we recorded through a third-party sale.

     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  That clarifies it.  Thank you.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Just actually an administrative question.  Mr. DeVellis referred to J2.4 (sic), which was an answer to an undertaking.  Was that filed separately from the other one?

     MR. PENNY:  That was, I believe, given -- those numbers relate to undertakings that were given at the Technical Conference.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Right.

     MR. PENNY:  So those were filed by Union last week.  So if you had a -- oh, sorry, that was number 4.  Yes, number 4 was filed a day after the package, because it took a little longer to track down the information.  Do you have a copy of that?

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  We don't have that.  But, I mean, if Mr. Millar --


MR. PENNY:  We have extra copies.


MS. CHAPLIN:  -- assures me that we have it, then I can get it.

     MR. PENNY:  We have extra copies right here, so we can 

give it to you right now, just to be sure.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  That would be great.

     Ms. Elliott, I'm looking at Exhibit A, tab 2, Appendix E, Attachment 3, which is -- and I guess I'm looking at the package of materials which was Union Gas's evidentiary record that was filed with respect to Procedural Order 10 and 4, if that would help you.  And this is an excerpt from the uniform system of accounts.

     MS. ELLIOTT:  I have that.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Anyway, it's talking about depreciable plans, and we had some questions earlier this morning explaining how, for ordinary retirements, gains and 

losses flow through the treatment of depreciation and there 

are adjustments made, whether it's sold at more or less than at book value; is that correct?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct; yes.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Now, it says “extraordinary” -- and I'm looking at page 113 of the uniform system of accounts.  And it's setting out the treatment for extraordinary retirements, but of depreciable plant.


And am I correct in my conclusion that the way an extraordinary retirement of a depreciable plant would be treated would be as "other", and therefore perhaps would not -- would it be treated in the same way as non-depreciable plant?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  No.  In fact, what happens to an extraordinary plant retirement is, that would go to the 

income statement.  So it would be recorded as a loss, and it would go to other income as a loss.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So it would go to other income as a loss for utility -- the utility's income?  So you would expect it to be recovered from ratepayers, potentially?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  No.  I think on an actual basis it would go to income for the company and the shareholder.  On a test-year basis, we don't forecast gains and losses, so they don't ever get into the revenue requirement for a test year.


And this really just provides for the treatment of an extraordinary retirement, so that it's kept out of the depreciation and out of future rates.  It would go to income in the year that it was incurred, and be a loss to the shareholder.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And are you aware of any experience Union has had with extraordinary retirements?  Is that a common or uncommon --

     MS. ELLIOTT:  It's not common.  I would say we've had a couple of circumstances, whether they classify -- whether they'd be classified as "extraordinary".  The disposition of the aircraft, which was the only item of plant in that pool, was a loss that affected income in 2004.


The other one that comes to mind is the NGV assets.  So we took losses in 2001/2002 on the NGV assets when we got out of that business.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And actually, just, if I could stop you, I recall seeing a reference to the NGV assets.

     MS. ELLIOTT:  In the material Mr. Aiken handed out this morning.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Ah.  Right.  That was Exhibit C5, tab 3.  I guess it's page 4 of his materials, correct?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  That's right.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  So that loss of somewhat less than 8 million -- So am I correct that that did, in effect, flow through to ratepayers?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  No, it did not.  It flowed through to the shareholder.  This is all actual reported earnings for the year.  So it flowed to the shareholder.  It flowed through earnings, but it wasn't recovered from ratepayers, no.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  But it in a sense -- was that a year when there was earnings-sharing?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  It was a year where there was an earnings-sharing calculation done.  And everything was in 

the calculation, but if you had started to take things out, it still had no impact.


So the calculation was left, including everything.  Making adjustments that year didn't put us over the threshold for sharing.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So it would be your expectation that in the event of extraordinary retirements, even in an earnings-sharing scenario, there would not be an impact on ratepayers?  Or is there --

     MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.  No, there would not be an impact on ratepayers.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you for that.

     On Exhibit B4.11, which was the question about, if the Board were to attribute some or all of the gain to ratepayers, how it might be allocated -- and I'm just interested to know -- and the answer, and this was reviewed this morning, was to use the 2004 allocation of base pressure gas.

     And I was just curious from looking at the table what the reason was for the sort of apparent change in allocations of base pressure gas between 1999 and 2004.  Can you just explain what it is that caused those changes?

     I guess the reason for my question is just to try and understand whether or not that that was a -- some sort of one-time change in methodology, or whether or not it's because the allocation of cushion gas is variable from year to year.

     MS. ELLIOTT:  I would have thought that the allocation of cushion gas was not that variable from year to year, but I think what you're seeing is the impact of moving M12 storage to C1 to market prices.  So the biggest change is happening on the M12 line.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Right.

     MS. ELLIOTT:  And that may be the reduction in M12 storage capacity or storage requirements.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So your expectation is, though, 

that sort of going forward, that the allocation of base pressure gas shouldn't -- it wasn't a change in methodology?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  It wasn't a change in methodology.  Not 

that I am aware of.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

     MR. KAISER:  Ms. Elliott, just to follow up on that 

before Mr. Vlahos comes back. This NGV writedown in 2002 -- I guess it was 7.9 million -- how is an extraordinary retirement defined?  Is it defined anywhere in the accounts, and is there an extraordinary gain definition?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  I think the only definition really does 

occur in the uniform system of accounts at page 113.  It talks about extraordinary retirements as being those things that weren't assumed in the depreciation study but were not contemplated in prior year's depreciation and the 

amortization provision.

     MR. KAISER:  Do we have any other substantial examples other than this NGV one that cropped up in 2002?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  There is nothing that I can recall, no.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.

     MS. ELLIOTT:  By their very nature --

     MR. KAISER:  They are extraordinary.

     MS. ELLIOTT:  They are not usual items.  Yes.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. Elliott or Mr. Baker, with respect to 

the 2.7 petaJoules that is potentially a surplus amount: Mr. Baker, you said that you're not in a position yet 

to tell us as to when the company may be able to dispose of 

that amount.  In the meantime, the customer is paying for 

the carrying cost of that investment for an asset that is 

potentially surplused, no. 1, and the customer also 

does not benefit from the sharing of any of the sale of the 

storage capacity through the -- what is called, the S&T, the S&T activity.  Can you respond to those few 

things, please? 

     MR. BAKER:  Yes, it's true on the remaining 2.7 that 

it is still in rates.  But all the storage that we have 

freed up to date on the cushion sales has gone through the 

S&T deferral accounts, and ratepayers have had the majority 

of the value from that additional capacity --

     ---REPORTER'S NOTE:  Mr. Buonaguro enters the room

     MR. BAKER:  And going forward even past the NGEIR 

decision, at least as it sits today, we will still have an S&T deferral account for short-term storage.  The sharing percentages have changed slightly, but there will still be deferral accounts in place with a sharing on short-term storage margin.

     MR. VLAHOS:  When it does happen with respect to 

2.7 pJ, the fact is that for the last several years, and probably in the foreseeable future, short term, that there will be no benefit to the ratepayer from the release of that storage for the transportation activity.  And transportation activity -- what is it called, S&T?  The 

storage and transportation activity.  So, I am not sure that you have answered my question, Mr. Baker.

     MR. BAKER:  As it sits here today, we haven't sold it, so we need it for our operations.  To the extent going forward we are in an operational position to sell some or 

all of that remaining 2.7 pJs of storage, that will create additional storage capacity, and there will still be the deferral accounts in place to capture a portion of that value for ratepayers going forward.

     At that point in time where we operationally can 

sell it and free up some portion of the storage, we will 

take that storage out into the marketplace and sell it, and it will be covered by the existing S&T framework.

     MR. VLAHOS:  But operationally, you are, as we 

speak today, in need of that 2.7 petaJoules.

     MR. BAKER:  That's correct.

     MR. VLAHOS:  How does that jive with the report that 

this was surplused?

     MR. BAKER:  It was potentially surplused, as we said.  

We look at if we took reservoirs down to a lower pressure, how much could we potentially sell.  Then what we did, as a company, was we said we want to go at this on a methodical basis so that we reduce the cushion gas in certain reservoirs.  We wanted to get operational experience operating those reservoirs at that new lower pressure, to make sure it operated the way we thought that it would 

operate before we would proceed to sell any additional 

cushion gas.  So it's potential at this point in time.

     If we were to find, as an example, from the storage or 

the cushion gas that we sold in 2004, if we were to find through actual operating experience that we got down those lower pressures, and we experienced something that we hadn't contemplated, then we would seriously look at 

whether or not it was prudent for us to go forward and sell 

any portion of the remaining 2.7.

     MR. VLAHOS:  If it turns out that you do sell that 

2.7, indeed, it is surplus; then I guess in the meantime the customer has not been able to benefit from that capacity availability, as well as the customer has been paying the carrying costs on that investment.

     MR. BAKER:  Again, I'm --

     MR. VLAHOS:  I'm just stating a fact, that those are sort of the facts.  As to whether it's proper or not, that is, I guess, argument.

     MR. BAKER:  Yes, I think at this point in time, until 

we have the operational experience to say that the cushion 

gas is excess, and we can sell it, it's part of the assets 

that we need to operate our system.

The only other point I would say is that the carrying costs, the value of that cushion gas is extremely low, and therefore the carrying cost on it would also be very, very small.

     MR. VLAHOS:  In today's terms, what is 2.7 --

     MR. BAKER:  You have to remember that --

     MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, it's the book value, you're saying.

     MR. BAKER:  The book value at the time we developed the reservoir.

     MR. VLAHOS:  So what is that value?

     MS. ELLIOTT:  There is an interrogatory in the 

original evidence, Exhibit B6.10.  It put the value to have 4.3 pJs before the 2004 sale.  The rate base value was 1.2 million, and since we've sold 700,000 of that 1.2, we have half a million dollars left in rate base.  The carry on that half a million is probably about $50,000.

     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Thank you for that.

     MR. PENNY:  Mr. Chairman, there was one issue arising 

out of those questions, which I'm just concerned the record 

may not be clear on the point, and I wonder if I may ask one question of Mr. Baker.

     MR. KAISER:  Go ahead.

     MR. PENNY:  It relates to your discussion about why 

the last piece, if I can call it -- or let me put it more neutrally, the remaining cushion gas has not sold.  I'm not sure the record is clear, when you talk about operational experience, what exactly it is that is causing Union not yet to consider a sale of the cushion gas that might potentially be surplus.  I wonder if you could explain 

that so the record is clear.

     MR. BAKER:  Certainly, the 1.6 pJs of cushion gas that 

we sold in 2004, we have not been able to, from an operating perspective, get down and actually operate those pools at that new lower pressure.

Until we get that experience, which will likely involve having colder-than-normal weather, to actually get down to that lower pressure, we don't have the operational experience that gives us the comfort on proceeding with any sale of the remaining 2.7.  That's the operational experience that I referred to.

     MR. PENNY:  Thank you, Mr. Baker.  I don't have 

anything further arising out of that.  I wanted to make sure we got that down.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Panel.  Mr. Penny, we'll take 

the morning break now and come back and hear your argument.

     MR. PENNY:  I wonder if I might have your indulgence to have until 11:30 to do that.

     MR. KAISER:  Fine.

     MR. PENNY:  Thank you.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Eleven-thirty. 

     --- Recess taken at 10:50 a.m.

     --- On resuming at 11:31 a.m.

     MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Penny?

     CLOSING ARGUMENT BY MR. PENNY:
     MR. PENNY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I was noting to my friends at the end of the break that the pace of this proceeding on this particular day caught me off-guard, and we had a written outline in the works, which we were able to get completed over the break.  So I thank you for that additional time.

     And then, although these authorities were all filed before on the original motion before you and Mr. Vlahos, I have no idea whether those are still accessible to you or not, and so we made a somewhat reduced version, because they're not all the same, but some of the same authorities that we used then are, I say, still pertinent to the issue that's before you today.

     So we have provided you with a brief of authorities that contains -- my friends have copies of this, but obviously had copies of those documents a year or so ago as well.

     So you should have a written argument, and this green 

brief, which contains the authorities.

     This portion of the hearing is, of course, proceeding 

on the assumption that the OEB has jurisdiction to decide 

whether to gave give the gain on the sale of Union's cushion gas to the utility's customers.  And the focus of this hearing is on whether the OEB should do so.


Union's position is that, even assuming the OEB has the power to give the gain to Union's customers, it should not do so in the circumstances of this case.  And we advance several reasons for this, and I will summarize them and come back to them later.

     First, we say customers did not contribute to the purchase of this asset.  They put no capital at risk and bore no other risks in connection with it.  And because cushion gas is non-depreciable, customers absorbed no depreciation expense in their rates either.

     All the customers paid in rates was the cost of capital on about $664,000 in rate base for the use, I emphasize, of that asset while deployed in providing utility service.

     In this circumstance, where customers bear no risk of 

loss, it's our submission they should derive no benefit from gain.

     Another reason we say allocation of the gain to customers is not warranted is because this asset, when sold, was a non-utility asset, because it was no longer needed to serve the public.


And we say, consistent with the treatment of such gains in the NGEIR decision, that profits and losses on the sale of non-utility assets are for the utility's account, not for the customers.

     Yet another reason for allowing the gain to remain with the company is that there was no harm.  No harm in the sense of adverse rate impact, no harm in the sense of adverse operational impact, no harm to the customers at all resulting from the sale.  And indeed, as the evidence 

unqualifiably shows, not only was there no harm, but there were significant benefits.

     The sale of cushion gas is unlike -- the sale of this particular capital asset, cushion gas, is oddly unlike the sale of the more typical non-depreciable asset sale, which is normally land, because when you sell land, of course, once the land is gone, it is just gone, and to the extent there's a ratepayer benefit, it results from it coming out of rate base, and therefore the carry -- the cost of capital carry on that item is removed.  But other than that there is no enduring benefit.

     Here, as you know, the reduction of cushion gas, unit for unit, incrementally creates a benefit, creates working capacity and storage.  And so what happens here, when you reduce cushion gas and sell it, yes, of course there's a gain, but there is also an increase in storage capacity, which is of huge benefit, as I'll come to later, for the people of Ontario and, indeed, of huge benefit to the 

ratepayers.

     Another reason we say why no allocation is warranted is that Union created this valuable asset at no cost, consistent with clear policy objectives that have been both before and since established by the Ontario Energy Board, and these policy objectives include such things as maintaining the importance of the Dawn hub, the creation of incremental storage capacity for the benefit of Ontario and its people, and we say that this sale of cushion gas, further, is consistent with and furthered those objectives.


The sale of cushion gas maximized the efficient use of scarce resources by creating incremental storage and, indeed, at no cost.  And so this, we say, is consistent with regulatory practice, both here and in the United States.

     To deprive Union of the benefit of that efficient 

conduct, which has already generated and will continue to generate significant benefits for Union's customers, we say, would undermine the very incentives that the OEB Panel, in the reconsideration decision in this very case, relied upon as the source of its jurisdiction.

     Yet another reason why no allocation of the gain to 

customers is appropriate is the lack, we submit, of any principled basis for doing so.  The Supreme Court, in the ATCO case, said that even if the Alberta Energy Utilities 

Board had had jurisdiction to allocate part of the gain in 

that case to customers, it was nevertheless unreasonable to 

have done so.


And we say the same obtains here.  It would be unreasonable to give away a portion of the proceeds from the sale of Union's property on these facts.  And I'll come to this in more detail, but essentially those facts are that there was an enormous benefit created for both the people and the ratepayers at no cost, and that the customers simply have no claim to the benefit on any principled basis.

     And finally, we say that even if the principle against 

retroactivity does not, as you found in your earlier decision, prohibit you as a matter of jurisdiction from reaching back to alter 2004 rates or clawing back 2004 extraordinary revenues, as a matter of policy you should not do so.

     The key facts, in my submission, are not in dispute.  

Base pressure or cushion gas is a non-depreciable capital asset.  It is the volume of gas in storage that is needed to maintain the minimum pressure required for the operation of the storage reservoirs and to ensure the integrity of the storage reservoirs is maintained.


And cushion gas remains in storage throughout the injection/withdrawal cycle.  It is never available for consumption.  Cushion gas is recorded as part of Property, Plant and Equipment, under the heading "underground storage plant" in the uniform system of accounts.


As a capital asset, cushion gas is valued and carried on the books at its original cost, so customers' rates have reflected only the carrying cost; that is, the return on equity and the interest on debt of the original invested capital that Union used to purchase the cushion gas.  And as you've heard, that investment in this particular portion of cushion gas was about $664,000.

     And as a non-depreciable capital asset, Union's rates, of course, reflect no provision for depreciation expense, so that simply doesn't enter into it.

     Union has never historically sought to recover capital losses on the sale of non-depreciable property, nor has it ever offered or been required to share the gains.  And this can be seen from tab B, Exhibit B8.1, which shows an accounting of non-depreciable sales since 2000.  And there were two years in which there were net capital losses, and Union sought no recovery of those amounts from customers, nor has it ever done so.


And Ms. Chaplin, you'll recall in your exchange with Ms. Elliott a few moments ago, that issue was clarified to, in addition, in fact actually include even losses on depreciable property, such as the example of the sale of the airplane, which were not visited upon ratepayers.

     So in 2001, Union looked at the efficient deployment of its storage assets, and concluded that as much as 6.4 pJs of working storage capacity might be created by reducing the base pressure of its storage pools to a consistent level.


But as you've heard, Union took a prudent approach to implementing this plan, and decided to reduce the pressure on a staged basis so as to gain operating experience at lower-base pressure levels before extracting the entire hypothetically surplus amount.


So the first tranche was sold in 2001/2002.  And I just say parenthetically that these transactions, of course, have always been fully disclosed in Union's books and in subsequent rate filings.

     Rate base in the next rate case following that sale 

was, of course, reduced accordingly.  Although, as you've 

heard, those numbers are fairly small, the principle at least was that, of course, that rate base is reduced, and it was.

     A further tranche was sold in 2004, and that's, of 

course, the sale which is at issue in these proceedings.

     The 2004 cushion gas sale was offered to the secondary 

market through an RFP to four bidders.  You heard this 

morning that the mechanism through which that was done was 

via an affiliate.  That was solely based on tax losses available to the affiliate that were not available to 

Union, so Union, where there's no advantage to anyone other 

than -- sorry, let me flip it around.  

There was no disadvantage to anyone.  The only reason it was done that way was because there were tax loss carry-forwards that West Coast had, but they couldn't possibly have benefited anyone else, and so the transaction was structured that way.

     The actual buyer was a wholesale energy marketer 

that carries on business throughout North America, and so 

Union's sale and the purchaser was not an end-user in 

Ontario, and the purpose of the sale to that purchaser was 

not for consumption in Ontario.

     What they did with the gas, of course, is a matter 

entirely up to them.

     Union has continued to monitor the operations of the 

storage pools.  The evidence is very clear on this.  There have been no adverse impacts and none are foreseen.

     However, because of the warmer-than-normal weather 

that's been experienced in the last few years, the pools 

have not yet been operated down to the new base pressure 

levels that were established in 2004, and so Union does not 

propose to withdraw additional cushion gas until it is 

satisfied with storage operations at the current levels 

under colder-than-normal weather conditions.

     So, today, the amount of potential surplus cushion 

gas that is in rate base is still necessary to serve the 

public.  That is the considered judgment of Union Gas, and it is validly in rate base because until they have the 

opportunity to know that the pools will operate appropriately when taken down to the new base levels, they 

are prudently, I would submit, not reducing the level.  

If and when that issue is resolved, which they hope it will be, then it will be the case that a considered judgment can be made that that asset is no longer needed to serve the public, and in which case the application of the same principles that have already obtained would follow on.

     The evidence is clear, however, that there have been no adverse operational impacts and that none are anticipated or foreseen.

     The evidence is also clear that there have been no 

adverse rate impacts, and not only have there been no 

adverse rate impacts, the evidence is overwhelming that 

there have been very significant concrete benefits to 

customers.

The cushion reduction, of course, frees up working storage capacity, so the cushion gas sales to date of 3.7 pJs in total have freed up an equivalent amount of working storage capacity, which has been sold in the secondary market at market prices.

This has increased activity at Dawn, and we have a couple of references as to the actual economic benefit.

     With respect to the 1.6 pJs associated with the 2004 cushion gas sale, that has been resulted -- and this is in the supplementary evidence at page 5 of the text of the evidence -- in a total of 7.2 million in addition on net revenue, 5.4 million of which was credited back to customers through the S&T deferral account.

     On page -- I guess it's the attached exhibits to the 

supplementary evidence, which is appendix A, there is an 

interrogatory from the rate case filed, J5.12.  This was a response to an interrogatory from the City of Kitchener.  

It's appendix A to the supplementary evidence, which 

contains some additional interrogatories that were filed in 

the 2007 rate case that touch on this subject.  And I'm 

looking at Exhibit J5.12, the second page.  The third 

paragraph under the "B" answer gives us some information about the total associated with 3.7 pJs.  It says:

"Ratepayers have benefits from the sale of the cushion gas through the sharing of the market premium that exists on the sale of the peak space created.  Union estimates the benefit to date to be in the range of 13 to 15 million related to the 3.7 pJs of space that has been developed since 2001."

     So we know, for the total amount of cushion gas 

sales to date, that 13 to 15 million have been generated in 

benefit, and specifically, some 5.4 net benefit to ratepayers from the 2004 cushion gas sale alone.

     That, I say, is really all you need to know about 

the facts to decide this case.  There is, I submit, no 

dispute on any of those facts.  The dispute here is and is 

going to be about regulatory policy or the philosophy of 

regulation.

     Union submits on these facts that even assuming 

Jurisdiction, there is no principled basis to allocate the 

gain to customers, and that it would be contrary to 

regulatory policy and practice, as I hope to show you.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Penny, the 13 to 15 million you 

referred to, is that the total?  Is that really comparable 

to the 5.4?  Is that the ratepayer benefit, or the total benefit?

     MR. PENNY:  That's the benefit.

     MR. KAISER:  Total benefit.

     MR. PENNY:  Just the benefit -- no, sorry, I mean 

benefit, ratepayer benefits.  It uses the word "benefit."  

It's my understanding that that's the 75 percent.

     MR. KAISER:  75, okay.

     MR. PENNY:  Yes.  The total net revenue is larger than that.

     The starting point for my -- I said that my first 

submission was that customers did not contribute to the 

acquisition of the asset and they got the benefit of the 

deployment of the asset in the provision of service only for the carrying cost, and that, having no legitimate 

expectation to be saddled with any capital losses as a 

result of the disposition of capital property, they ought 

not to benefit from any gains.

     The starting point for that submission is the 

proposition that, by paying for service, customers acquire no legal or equitable interest in the utility's property or in the funds of the company.  This has been settled in the 

US for quite a long time and is, in fact, not a surprising proposition or unusual in any way whatsoever, and arises from well-settled principles of corporate property and contract law.

     Tab 4 -- sorry, tab 3, my apologies.  Tab 3 of the 

brief of authorities is a decision from the Commonwealth 

Court of Pennsylvania in a case involving a Philadelphia water company in a judicial review of a decision of the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission.  This was a case in which the Public Utility Commission had allocated the gain from the sale of land not needed to serve the public to the ratepayers.  The court overturned that decision and had the following comments to make.  I'm referring to page 3 of that decision, starting at the bottom of the left-hand 

column, in which the Pennsylvania court summarizes the decision of the US Supreme Court in the Board of Public Commissioners versus New York Telephone.  And they say that:

"In that case the United States Supreme Court held that ratepayers pay only for the use of utility assets properly used to provide public service while the ownership of utility assets resides in the shareholders of the company.  The Court stated, 'Customers pay for service, not for the property used to render it.  By paying bills for service, they do not acquire any interest, legal, or equitable, in the property used for their convenience or in the funds of the company.’"

     They go on to address the implications of that.  And in the bottom paragraph on that page, they address the particular issue before them, which is the allocation of the proceeds on the sale of land.  They say:

"Important here is the premise that land is a non-depreciable asset carried at its original cost by a utility in its rate base.  As such, the utility gains no advantage, as it does from depreciable assets, for the non-cash expense of depreciation.  Land is neither consumed nor made useless by its use in utility service.  By way of analogy, it is much the same as a catalyst in a chemical reaction, necessary but not consumed by the event.  The ratepayer, though bearing the cost of taxes, pays only for the use of the land, but gains no equitable or legal rights therein.  As the ratepayer would not pay the loss on any sale of land, neither should he receive the gain."

     And that principle, in my submission, has been echoed in the recent decision of the Supreme Court of Canada in the ATCO case.  And rather than turn it up -- and I don't intend to spend much time on the ATCO case.  But if you look at my written submission, I have quoted the relevant excerpts that touch on this point at page 14, starting at paragraph 54.  And there we say:

"Customers acquire no interest in or rights to the property of a utility or the utility's owner by virtue of those assets being employed to provide utility services.  The Supreme Court confirmed this principle in ATCO, when it said:  'Thus, can it be said as alleged by the City that the customers have a property interest in the utility?  Absolutely not.  That cannot be so, as it would mean that fundamental principles of corporate law would be distorted.  Through the rates the customers pay an amount for the regulated service that equals the cost of the service and the necessary resources.  They do not by their payment implicitly purchase the asset from the utility's investors.  The payment does not incorporate acquiring ownership or control of the utility's assets'."

     And then they said at paragraph 67:

"The fact that the utility is given the opportunity to make a profit on its services and a fair return on its investment in its assets should not and cannot stop the utility from benefiting from the profits which follow the sale of the assets.  Neither is the utility protected from losses incurred from the sale of assets.  In fact, the wording of the sections quoted above suggests that the ownership of the assets is clearly that of the utility.  Ownership of the asset and entitlement to profits or losses upon its realization are one and the same thing."

     And then we simply note there that this principle has 

also been referenced by the National Energy Board in a 

TransCanada Pipelines toll case, in which the Board agreed with those who submitted that:

"The payment of tolls confers no future benefit on toll-payers beyond the provision of service.  Previous toll-payers have no acquired rights."

     So we say that cushion gas is a non-depreciable asset not consumed or exhausted in the provision of service.  The only cost recovery in rates is the carrying cost of capital used to acquire the asset, based on, I emphasize, original cost.


Customers, by paying their bills, did not contribute to the purchase of the asset, and they bore no risk of market fluctuation with respect to its value.

     The only occasion on which this issue has ever arisen before the OEB in connection with Union or any of Union's predecessors, such as Northern & Central or Centra, is in a decision which we've got at tab 6 of the brief of authorities, in a Northern & Central Gas Corporation rate case from 1984.


And this is a decision of Chairman McCauley, who knew a thing or two about gas regulation in the province.  And the issue arose in this case as to what to do with gain on the sale of some land that Northern & Central had owned in Sudbury and had disposed of, because it wasn't necessary to the provision of utility service any more, and it was therefore removed from -- going to be removed from rate base.

     And starting at page 144, the Board said under the heading "Northern Land":

"The Board has considered the past regulatory and accounting treatment of the Sudbury building and associated land.  We have also considered the treatment accorded to capital gain on the sale of land by Consumers."

     And cites some cases:

"Although the building and land were both part of rate base on which a return has been earned, only the building has been depreciated as specifically designated by the uniform system of accounts.  The ratepayers have been paying for the cost of the building through depreciation charged as an operating expense each year, and therefore should receive any gain or loss."

     So that's on the depreciation part:

"Since the net proceeds from the sale of the building, plus accumulated depreciation, is less than the book cost of the building, the full value of the building has not been paid for by ratepayers.  Therefore, the value not accounted for should be charged to accumulated depreciation."

     So that's exactly the scenario that Ms. Elliott was describing this morning.  That's leaving aside, of course, when a pool is retired or terminated.  But that's the issue that Ms. Elliott was describing this morning with respect to depreciation.

     Then they turn to land, non-depreciable:

"Conversely, the ratepayers have not been paying depreciation on the land, and therefore, upon its sale, ratepayers are not responsible for any gain or loss on this non-depreciable item.  The original cost of the land will be removed from rate base so that the company will cease to earn a return on the former asset."

     So that -- I know there is other cases.  I'm sure 

you'll hear about them.  But that's the only case that's ever involved Union Gas or any predecessor to Union Gas, and our position on the other cases is that we weren't parties to those, we didn't agree to anything in those, and we're not bound by those.  And so I ask you to consider the one authority that did consider the matter when Union Gas was involved.

     The Federal Energy Regulatory Commission takes the same view, I will say.  And Mr. Kaiser and Mr. Vlahos will remember that, on the motion a year or so ago, I referred to this case.  It's the next tab, tab 7, a decision of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission in the -- in a case involving Natural Gas Pipeline Company of America.


And this was a case where there was both a new storage asset in development, and therefore new rates had to be set for what was to be charged for the use of that development, and there was also a sale of some surplus cushion gas.


And so the issue came before the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission as to what treatment should be afforded the gain on the sale of the surplus cushion gas.


And one of the intervenors, EnCana, took the position that that gain ought to be credited to the ratepayers, in terms of the cost of the new storage development, and therefore, in effect, lower the rates.


The two were, in substance, unrelated, but their position was that: well, we ought to just give all this gain of $29 million to the ratepayer and use that to lower the rates in the new storage development, and that will be fine and dandy.

     You'll see -- and I've just summarized what's set out in paragraph 41 there.  In paragraph 42 we see what -- I'm sorry, I'm on page 7.  I apologize.  I was referring to something and didn't tell you where to find it.


So this is page 7, is where the cushion gas discussion takes place.  Paragraph 41 summarizes the background and the position that EnCana was taking.  Paragraph 42 summarizes the position of the utility, and there it says:

"Natural” -- which was the utility –- “states that its customers did not pay for the cushion gas.  Natural states that it purchased the cushion gas, that it accounted for the gas as a capital asset in account 117.1 of the uniform system of accounts, that it carried the gas on its books at historic cost, that it did not recover the expense of the purchase through depreciation expense, that the gas is included in its rate base for cost-of-service purposes, and that the gas is an item for which Natural would receive only an opportunity to earn a return on its investment.  Natural contends that the Commission should reject EnCana's claims regarding the revenue from the sale of the cushion gas."

     So in my submission, exactly the same facts as you find in this case.  And the Commission's response was, under Part B at the bottom of the page:

"We find EnCana's proposal to include the imputed value of North Lands in cushion gas to develop an expansion incremental rate without merit.  Natural storage customers did not bear the costs of purchasing the North Lands cushion gas.  Natural owns the cushion gas.  Natural included the historic cost of the cushion gas into its rate base for cost-of-service purposes and properly recorded it as a fixed asset in account number 117.1.  It is our well-established policy to permit regulated companies to realize the gains or absorb any losses when selling a capital asset."

     And I would just point out, with respect to the FERC position, that you may recall that there is evidence, in the original evidence filing, which establishes that the sale of cushion gas is a well-recognized method under FERC, in FERC decisions and under FERC proceedings, of developing incremental storage capacity.  It emphasizes the point that this is efficient use of scarce resources.  The report -- if you give me a minute I'll turn it up.

     I'll give you that reference in a minute.  Essentially the FERC commissioned a study to look at a review of base pressure levels, and concluded that the reduction of base pressure levels was both an acceptable and indeed an environmentally sound method of creating incremental working storage space.  

When you put those two things together, it's no surprise that, on the one hand, FERC finds that it is an appropriate enterprise to engage in to review your base pressure levels and determine whether you're making both maximum and efficient use of that asset, and to say, well, if you do that and you find that you can create incremental storage space for everyone's benefit, then it makes a lot of sense that the gain on the sale of that asset would remain with the utility.

     I’ll come back to that.  That's an issue of incentives, and I'll come back to that later.

     The reference I was looking for -- I'm not sure you 

need to turn it up, but I'll give it to you so you have it.  

It's at page 32 of Exhibit A, tab 2, of the original 

evidence.  The evidence was, and this has never been challenged:

"Cushion gas reductions are an accepted, well-recognized and common method of creating incremental storage capacity in a cost-effective manner.  A recently published FERC report, Current State of and Current Issues Concerning Underground Natural Gas Storage 2004, concluded cushion gas reductions are not only cost efficient but also environmentally advantageous."

     The second point that I said I wanted to address was the position that the cushion gas was not an asset needed to provide utility service.  So, since Union's 2001, 2002, and 2004 cushion gas sales, the affected storage pools have operated satisfactorily, and as I've said, there have been no adverse operational or cost consequences.  Union's successful experience with operating the pools at the lower levels demonstrates, I would submit, conclusively that the cushion gas that was sold was not needed to provide utility service.

     That was the conclusion they formed initially.  The 

cushion gas was sold on that basis, on the staged basis that I outlined.  The evidence post that sale is absolutely consistent with that.

     It's clear, in my submission, that this was an asset 

that was not needed to provide utility service.

And so we say, consistent with the NGEIR decision, that if the profits from storage transactions employing non-utility assets accrue entirely to Union, and not its customers, then it follows equally that capital gains on the sale of nondepreciable property that is not needed to serve the public -- i.e., non-utility -- must also accrue entirely to Union, not to its customers.

So we say it's just purely as a matter of consistency that exactly the same analysis applies as the Board applied to the sharing of revenues on the use of assets which were determined to be non-utility.

     MR. KAISER:  But wasn’t it the case in NGEIR that some of those assets were never in rate base?

     MR. PENNY:  Some of them, that's true, but some of them were.

     I'm sorry.  Mr. Packer has pointed out to me, Mr. Chairman, I'm wrong in that.  I think perhaps the -- I’m treading on perhaps thin ice here -- but I think the Board did say that some of those assets were not in rate base, but actually think that on the evidence that was incorrect.  I think all of the storage assets were in rate.  So I am advised that some of them were not used to provide utility service because there was an excess of assets, but they actually were all in rate base. That was part of the justification, in fact, for why the large portion of the net revenues went back to ratepayers.

     I apologize for that.  I was incorrect in my first 

answer.  I believe the evidence is that those assets were 

all in rate base.

     The third point that I wanted to make, outlined 

Earlier, was that there was no harm, only benefit.  Public 

utilities are, of course, natural monopolies, and in my 

submission, the purpose of regulation in that circumstance 

is to prevent the abuse of monopoly power.  Here there is no abuse of monopoly power in connection with the cushion gas sale.  To the contrary, a benefit has been created for 

customers and the public in the form of increased storage 

assets and revenues and reduced costs.

     Now, Union has always conceded that the OEB has 

jurisdiction to consider whether customers were harmed by 

the 2004 sale of cushion gas, and Union has also, as you 

have read in the evidence and heard this morning from Mr. Baker, that if in future there were adverse, unnecessary rate consequences resulting from the need to put cushion gas back, Union has always candidly said that if we made a mistake and that cushion gas was necessary, it would go back at our cost.  So if we have to go out and replace that asset with something that we have to buy at market prices, we'll do that, if we made a mistake.

     All of the evidence tells us that a mistake was not 

made, and as I've told you, that there is absolutely no harm to customers.

     But, as a matter of jurisdiction, I'm saying, we 

have always conceded that the OEB has the power to look at 

that issue, and you have remedial powers to correct it.  Even if Union didn't make good on its promise in a rate case, you could say, that cost was an imprudently incurred cost.  You sold the cushion gas.  You then had to put it back.  You shouldn't have done that, and therefore we're not going to allow recovery of that cost.  Purely as a matter of jurisdiction, you have that power.

     But in my submission, that power should only be 

exercised -- and again I'm speaking "should" not "can" 

because we're past the issue of jurisdiction -- but in my 

submission that jurisdiction to allocate gains on the disposition of property should only be exercised to allocate gains to the extent necessary to alleviate some harm to customers that may have resulted either from some degradation in service or some adverse rate consequence.

     There being neither in this case, I say that there is 

no principled basis for the allocation of that gain to the 

benefit of customers.

     We say as well, just following on from that, that there is indeed no principled basis in policy for allocating this gain to customers.  

I reference the ATCO decision.  I wanted to go back to that briefly, and again, I don't think it's necessary to turn it up because I've quoted the relevant passage at page 21 of my written submission.

     Under item 6, "No principled claim by or public policy 

benefit in allocating gains to customers," we say there that:

"The Supreme Court considered the issue of the customer’s claim to the proceeds of the asset sale at issue in ATCO, even if the AEUB had jurisdiction to allocate such gains to customers."

     This was an alternative position advanced by the 

majority in that decision.  The Supreme Court concluded that the exercise of such power, assuming it even existed, would have in the circumstances been unreasonable.

     In coming to that conclusion, they write the quoted 

portion here:

"After declaring that the customers would not on balance be harmed, the Alberta AEUB maintained that on the basis of the evidence filed there appeared to be a cost saving to the customer."

     So it is exactly the situation we have here, and not just that there appear to be cost savings, there are cost savings, both in the form of reduced rate base -- but that's relatively small -- but principally in the form of net revenues in the S&T transactions, 15 million worth.

"There was no legitimate customer interest which could or needed to be protected by denying approval of the sale or by making approval conditional on a particular allocation of the proceeds.  Even if the Alberta EUB had found a possible adverse effect arising from the sale, how could it allocate proceeds now based on an unqualified future potential loss?  Moreover, in the absence of any factual basis to support it, I am also concerned with the presumption of bad faith on the part of ATCO that appears to underlie the AEUB's determination to protect the public from some possible future menace.  In any case, as mentioned earlier in these reasons, this determination to protect the public interest is also difficult to reconcile with the actual power of the AEUB to prevent harm to ratepayers from occurring by simply refusing to approve the sale of a utility's asset."

     To that -- and I would simply add to that, or in this 

Case, to refuse recovery of incremental costs in a rate case.  To that I would add that the Alberta AEUB has considerable discretion in the setting of future rates in order to protect the public interest, as I have already stated.

     So the identical analysis, in my submission, applies here.  Union's customers have no principled claim to the proceeds of the 2004 cushion gas sale, and no public interest would be protected or served by allocating those proceeds to them.

     Now, I also made reference to the public policy 

Incentives, and I wanted to refer you, if I could, please, 

to excerpts from both the NGF proceeding and the NGEIR proceeding, which are in the -- as a set-up for this point, which are in the brief.  And the NGF report or excerpts is at tab 8.

     And in the executive summary portion, there is a page 2.  Under the heading "summary of conclusions," there's a 

piece on rate regulation, and it says:

"To fulfil its statutory objectives related to consumer protection, infrastructure development and the financial viability of the industry, the Board has determined that the gas rate regulation framework must meet the following criteria:  Establish incentives for sustainable efficiency improvements that benefit customers and shareholders, ensure appropriate quality of service for customers, and create an environment that is conducive to investment to the benefit of customers and shareholders."


And then if you would flip the page, there's an -- I have an excerpt from page 18 and 19 of the -- and 20 of the decision.  And under the heading "sustainable efficiency improvements", the Board said that:

"It is important that the rate regulation framework creates incentives for the implementation of sustainable efficiency improvements and that it is structured to ensure that ratepayers share the benefit of these efficiencies."


Then if you would go across the page, under the heading "an environment conducive to investment", it says:

"The Board is committed to creating a predictable and stable regulatory environment that encourages continued investment in the sector.  A strong, financially viable sector which will help to sustain a robust gas market in Ontario, which will benefit consumers, in terms of price and security of supply.  In the Board's view, while Ontario's natural gas sector does not now suffer from an overall lack of investment, it is important to examine the incentives for investment to ensure they create a stable financial base for the utility.  In particular, the Board is concerned about the infrastructure needs associated with the expected increase in gas-fired power generation, the changing flow patterns that may result with market development, for example, if there were a liquified natural gas terminal in Eastern Ontario, Canada, and the need to maintain Ontario as a location with a strategically important natural gas hub."

     And then if you would turn the page with me, there is an excerpt from page 53 of the Board's conclusions in the 

NGF report, touching on this issue of the Dawn hub.

     In the middle of the paragraph -- or the section under the Board's conclusions, the middle paragraph, starting "the Board also recognizes."  And the Board said:

"The Board also recognizes that Ontario has some advantages that could ease the development of gas-fired generation.  Ontario is the location of the confluence of several major pipelines, and this confluence, combined with gas storage facilities in the same area, has led to the development of the Dawn hub.  The Dawn hub is an important source of flexibility for gas trading and for gas customers in Ontario.  The Board wants to ensure that liquidity continues to develop to benefit Ontario customers."

     And the evidence, particularly the evidence, Mr. Chair and members of the Panel, that was in the supplementary 

evidence -- this is touched on in the original evidence, but more specifically focused on the supplementary evidence.
 The evidence is that, of course, the incremental storage capacity obtained through the sale of cushion gas has exactly this effect.  It enhances the liquidity at Dawn by creating that much more working capacity and that much more -- that many more transactions and that much more ability to engage in gas transactions at the hub.

     And then, in the NGEIR decision, which is at tab 1 of the brief, if we would look at page -- starting at page 7, under the heading "Ontario gas storage background, Ontario gas storage facilities", the Board said:

"The storage facilities are an integral part of what is commonly referred to as the Dawn hub, which is widely recognized as one of the more important market centres in North America for the trading, transfer, and storage of natural gas.  In its Natural Gas Forum report..."


And then they quote a passage which I already read to you.  And then they said:

"The Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC), in its assessment of energy markets in the United States in 2004, made similar comments about the significant of Dawn:  'The Dawn hub is an increasingly important link that integrates gas produced from multiple basins for delivery to customers in the midwest and northeast.  Dawn has many of the attributes that customers seek as they structure gas transactions at the Chicago hub:  Access to diverse sources of gas production, interconnection to multiple pipelines, proximity to market-area storage, choice of seasonal and daily park and loan services, liquid trade markets, and opportunities to reduce long-haul pipeline capacity ownership by purchasing gas at downstream liquid hubs'."

And then if you would turn the page, I have an excerpt from page 48 of the decision, under the heading "to facilitate rational development and safe operation of gas storage".  The Board said:

"The Board” -- in the second paragraph – “the Board has an explicit objective:  To facilitate the rational development of gas storage.  The Board, therefore, must look for means by which to achieve this objective.  A number of authorities have identified the need to develop additional storage."

     And then it goes on to discuss some of the evidence on 

that issue.

     And then, in its concluding remarks on this issue, if you would flip to page 50, the excerpt from page 50, in the first -- starting in the first full sentence in the first paragraph:

"The Board also agrees that further development of storage in Ontario would be of benefit to Ontario consumers, in terms of reduced price volatility, enhanced security of supply, and an overall enhanced competitive market at Dawn.  There is also evidence that new services, once they are generally available, can enhance the service offerings of other parties, such as marketers, thereby increasing the liquidity of the market."

     Now, there's plenty of other relevant material in the NGEIR decision, which I -- which is dealt with in our written submission.  But my point, in looking at those passages, is to say that as things have evolved, what Union did, without the benefit of those decisions, in effect on its own initiative, has turned out, with the benefit of hindsight, of course, to be extremely valuable and very much in line with the direction that the Board has clearly articulated it wants to go, which is efficient use of assets for the benefit of Ontarians, and, in particular, the creation of additional storage facilities in the Dawn area to enhance its usability and benefits as a liquid hub.


That is, of course, exactly what Union has done in this case.  It has, through the expenditure of no money whatsoever, created now 3.7 pJs of incremental storage 

capacity.

     And then, just closing on the point, the NGEIR -- I won't read these passages.  They're cited in my written argument, but the NGEIR decision goes on to say that a portion of the storage assets owned by Union were not necessary for utility service to distribution, transmission, or storage customers of Union, and in making that observation, they concluded that in the Board's view, Union's existing storage assets are in substance a combination of utility assets required to serve Union's in-franchise distribution customers, and non-utility assets that are not required for regulated utility operations and that are sold in the competitive storage market.

    The OEB went on to conclude that storage in excess 

of that reserved for in-franchise customers at cost-based 

rates was a non-utility asset, and that Union is entitled to retain all of the margin on the short-term storage 

transactions arising from the non-utility portion of the 

short-term, and with respect to long-term, again, that for 

storage in excess of the 100 pJs that the Board reserved for in-franchise customers, with respect to new long-term 

storage transactions, that immediately accrues entirely to 

Union, not to ratepayers, and applied that same principle to existing long-term storage, subject to a transition over a period of four years.

     It is therefore apparent, in my submission, that the 

creation of additional storage assets is an objective for 

the OEB, and the creation of incentives to create those 

assets is a priority.  I say that because, not only because of the NGF decision, but because of the very words of the Board Panel that decided the jurisdictional motion on the re-hearing, that one of the very sources of the Board's jurisdiction, it said, was to create incentives and disincentives.

     It is apparent that in-franchise customers have no 

direct claim over new or existing storage assets not needed 

to provide in-franchise service, and it is clear that the 

benefits derived from non-utility assets should accrue to 

Union, not to customers.

     So I simply say, allowing Union to retain the proceeds 

of its 2004 cushion gas sale is consistent with these 

objectives and conclusions of the OEB.  Allowing Union to 

retain the gains recognizes the significant benefit Union 

has created for customers and for the public, and it 

provides an incentive for Union to continue to explore 

potential cushion gas sales, and other efficiencies, for that matter, and the resulting expansion of available storage at no cost, thereby creating sustainable efficiency 

developments.

     As the economists MacAvoy and Sidak, in the article that we've referenced before in earlier submissions and is 

provided in our brief, say, if regulators were to take all windfall cost reductions to apply them to lowering rates, the utility would have no incentive to increase its efficiency.  That fundamentally is what we say here.  



The benefits of the 2004 cushion gas sale fit squarely within articulated public policy objectives identified by the OEB.  Customers have already received very significant benefits from the sale of the cushion gas and are not deprived of any entitlement by a decision not to allocate any of the proceeds of the sale to them.

      Then, very briefly, Mr. Chairman, and I won't take you through the detail -- it's in my written argument on this issue of retroactivity.  It's similar to an argument you have heard from me before, only this time the focus is not on jurisdiction, but on appropriate rate-making principles.  

Essentially our argument is that rates were conclusively set for 2004, 2005, 2006, and 2007.  It's not clear to us what rates the OEB would seek to adjust in any allocation of proceeds from the 2004 cushion gas sale, but in any event we say that, even assuming the OEB has jurisdiction to do so, public policy weighs against retroactive rate adjustments.  I cite some authority, starting at page 22 of our written submission, to the effect that retroactivity is not appropriate.

     The Supreme Court of Canada, in the ATCO case, was 

critical of the Alberta EUB's purported after the fact rate 

adjustment when it allocated gains from the sale of the 

stores block.  That's quoted at paragraph 96 of my 

written submission.  The equity investor expects to 

receive the net revenues, they said, after all costs are 

paid, equal to the present value of the original investment, at the time of that investment.  The disbursement of some portions of the residual amount of net revenue by after-the-fact reallocation to rate-paying customers undermines that investment process.

     Again, they cite the MacAvoy and Sidak article.  So I'm simply submitting that the same approach applies 

here.  Rates once fixed by the OEB are conclusively just and reasonable.  The Board decided in the 2004 rate case that rates were just and reasonable as they stood, without this amount in the forecast or without this amount allocated to customers.  The Board adjudged the 2007 rates just and reasonable without the allocation of any of this 

extraordinary gain to customers.

     So, from the customers' perspective, I say, the rates 

established represent proper compensation for the service 

provided, and absent a deferral account to address future 

revenues or expenses, which was expressly rejected here, the process is complete when the decision is issued and the 

final order is made.  

My final submission is simply that it would be inappropriate in accordance with normal rate-making principles to retroactively adjust the 2004 rates.

     And that, Mr. Chairman, subject to any questions, is my submission.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Penny.

     Mr. Millar, who is next?

     MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I note it's 12:30.  We clearly won't finish everyone before lunch.  I wonder if it might be acceptable to you that we take our lunch break now, so the intervenors and myself have a moment to digest everything that Mr. Penny has presented to us.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  We'll come back at 1:30.

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

     --- Luncheon recess taken at 12:30 p.m.

     --- On resuming at 1:28 p.m.

     MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


Mr. Millar?

     MR. PENNY:  Mr. Chair, I -- Mr. Warren, are you going 

first?

     CLOSING ARGUMENT BY MR. WARREN:
     MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chairman, when the Board is ready, 

I'll start.

     MR. KAISER:  Please proceed.

     MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chairman, the Board's decision on the 30th of January was to the effect that it had the jurisdiction to consider the question of whether proceeds from the sale of cushion gas could and should be allocated between the shareholder --

     MR. KAISER:  Is your mic on, Mr. Warren?

     MR. WARREN:  My mic is on, so -- at least the green 

button is on.

     MR. MILLAR:  Try and move up.


MR. KAISER:  How about, turn it off and turn it on again.

     MR. WARREN:  I'm now in the invidious position of 

having to look into the whites of Mr. Penny's eyes, a 

terrifying prospect.


Let me begin again.  Can everybody hear me now?

     MR. KAISER:  He doesn't have much white hair, so...

     MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chairman and Members of the Board, the Board's decision on January 30th, 2007 was that it had the jurisdiction to consider the question of whether the proceeds of the sale of cushion gas could and should be 

allocated between shareholder and ratepayer.


Since the question arises under Section 36 of the Board's Act, the Board, in my submission, has a broad jurisdiction or discretion to consider a number of factors, including whether the sale has harmed or will harm ratepayers and whether an allocation is needed to incent or disincent Union from certain behaviours.

     In my respectful submission, Mr. Chairman and members 

of the Panel, this case involves, in stark form, a clash between two regulatory principles.  The first is the principle which is most recently expressed in the ATCO decision; namely, the right of the utility to dispose of an asset which is no longer used and useful, retaining the gain or absorbing the loss.  And the second principle is the principle that the utility must act in the best interests of the ratepayers.

     In my submission, the facts of this case make it distinguishable from the facts in ATCO for a number of reasons, but chiefly because the sale of the asset in that case was no longer used and useful, and could not have been used and useful, or could not have been made used and useful.

     By contrast here, the sale of gas -- sorry, by contrast, this case involves the sale of gas which could have been reclassified and used for customers, thereby presumably reducing rates of paid-for gas in the ensuing period.  Unlike the ATCO case, the utility had a choice, in a way which was not present in ATCO.

     Now, I have put on the dais a copy -- a portion of the decision in Exhibit-2001-0032.  And that's a decision of the Board in a rates application by Enbridge Gas Distribution.


And the facts that the Board was dealing with in this particular portion were with the outsourcing arrangements for customer care and CIS.


And the Board -- I offer that simply because it is the most recent iteration of which I am aware of the principle that a utility is obligated to act, not only in the interests of its shareholders, but also in the interests of its ratepayers.


And I refer the Board to page 159 of the decision, Section 5.11.17, where the Board says, and I quote:

"The Board shares the concerns raised by intervenors that, in long-term outsourcing arrangements, ECG has an obligation to act in the best interests of the utility, including its ratepayers."

     Now, it's not, I will be the first to concede, a perfect analogue to this circumstance.  First of all, we were dealing with ongoing business of Enbridge Gas Distribution.  We were not dealing with the sale of an asset.

     But it is useful, as I say, because it reiterates the longstanding regulatory principle that there is an obligation on the part of the utility to act in the best interests, not only of its shareholder, but also of its 

ratepayers.

     And this is consistent with the long-held principle, 

first expressed in Canada in the Northwestern Utilities case, that the obligation of the regulator is to balance the legitimate interests of the utility to earn a fair return and the interests of the ratepayers to have fair rates.

     Now, in this particular case, members of the Panel, the sale in question was the sale of a gas commodity.  And Union argues that it is an asset and has always been accounted for that way, and so its sale should be treated simply as the sale of an asset.


But there is no question, in my respectful submission, that Union could have chosen to convert the asset into a commodity and sold it as such, to serve its ratepayers' needs.

It chose not to do so.  It chose, in other words, to prefer the interests of its shareholder to those of its ratepayers.

     In my respectful submission, consistent with the principle that Union must act in the best interests of its ratepayers, it is not entitled to do so.  It was under an obligation, in my respectful submission, to make a decision to use the gas commodity for the purposes of its customers, thereby reducing rates.

     Now, at page 20 of my friend's -- the written version of my friend's submission this morning, he says -- and I look at paragraph 84.  And Mr. Penny says:

"Union has always conceded that the OEB has jurisdiction to consider whether customers were harmed by the 2004 sale of cushion gas."

     And then says in paragraph 85:

"Thus, assuming the OEB has jurisdiction to allocate gains on the disposition of property, that power should only be exercised to allocate gains to the extent necessary to alleviate harm to customers resulting from degradation in service or unnecessary increases in the rates resulting from the disposition in question."

     Now, my friend argues strenuously at some length that there has been no harm and that there have been benefits.  In my respectful submission, there clearly has been harm, in the form of not using that less expensive gas for the purposes of customers.

     Then on page 21, quoting the ATCO decision -- this is in paragraph 89 -- he underscores the following passage in ATCO:

"There was no legitimate customer interests which could or needed to be protected by denying approval of the sale or by making approval conditional on a particular allocation of the proceeds."

     Those facts don't obtain in this case.  There was a legitimate customer interest that needed to be protected in this case, and that is the customer's interest in using that gas for the purposes of assisting customers.

     So in my respectful submission, there is a clash of principles, which this Panel has to resolve.  In my respectful submission, it should be resolved in favour of the principle that the interests of ratepayers should be 

protected.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Warren, does that assume that the 

customers would have been entitled to obtain that gas at the original price?  And if so, what's the basis for that assumption?

     MR. WARREN:  It is based on an assumption, Mr. Chairman.  The assumption is that Union is obligated to buy gas at the cheapest price available for the purposes of its customers.  That's a principle which, in my experience, has followed uniformly -- has been followed uniformly over the years by the Board.

     MR. KAISER:  But they bought that gas years ago at a very low price which no longer exists.  The customer never had any ownership.  So you are suggesting that when they bought that gas, whenever it was, years ago, that the customer had some implicit right to take title at the original purchase price?

     MR. WARREN:  What I'm saying, sir, is that the issue of the ownership of the asset doesn't arise in this case, or if it does arise, it isn't determinative in this case, because at the fulcrum moment when the decision came to sell this gas, there was the possibility of harm to the ratepayer, and also there was this overriding obligation to use the commodity in a way which, if you wish, maximized the benefit to -- was a benefit to the ratepayers.

     So I say it's distinguishable from the ATCO circumstance, that the ownership issue doesn't arise.  And it's in those circumstances that the utility should have acted in the best interests of the ratepayer.

     I don't gainsay the fact that there is a clash of principles.  And the issue for the Board is to resolve those principles in the most appropriate way.

It is possible that the empty chair may have more lucid submissions than I have.

     Finally, Mr. Chairman, members of the Panel, with 

respect to the issue of how the proceeds should be 

allocated:  The ratepayers, in our respectful submission, are entitled to the benefit of the allocation of the gain, which is some $12.9 million.  However, the evidence, which is unchallenged on the record, is that there has been a ratepayer gain from the use of the storage assets in the amount of some $5.4 million, and in my respectful submission the ratepayers should be entitled to the difference between the 5.4 and the 12.9.  I haven't done the math, whatever that works out to.  And that allocation will be something in the range of 55 percent allocation to the interests of the ratepayers.  

Those are my submissions, Mr. Chairman.

     QUESTIONS BY THE BOARD:

MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  The 5.4 million, 

is that at a specific point in time, or do you forecast how 

that benefit would increase over time?

     MR. WARREN:  That's based on the calculation that's in 

Union's evidence of the benefit that's accrued, I think, since 2004, 2005, 2006.

     MR. KAISER:  To date?

     MR. WARREN:  To date.  Yes.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Warren, if I can follow up on the harm concept.  I understood your argument to be that harm in this case is simply the lost opportunity cost, if you like.  It's not that the ratepayer has been harmed -- he is no worse off than he was before the sale, but, rather, there has been an opportunity cost that the ratepayer has not been provided with.

     MR. WARREN:  Yes, I think that's a fair way of summarizing it, sir.

     MR. KAISER:  That's essentially the "cheap gas" argument, is it?

     MR. WARREN:  It is, sir.

     MR. KAISER:  Yes.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, Mr. Warren.  Not so fast.

     I want to briefly go back to your allocation of 

the proceeds.  I had assumed, perhaps incorrectly, that 

the $5.4 million benefit arising from that incremental 

storage space was sort of separate and apart from the gain 

on the commodity sale, so I'm curious as to why you would 

net one off against the other.

     MR. WARREN:  It's simply an acknowledgement, Ms. Chaplin, that the ratepayers have benefited -- for example, for ratepayers to simply take all of the $12.9 million would not acknowledge the fact that in the interim they have received a benefit.  They're not comparable in any accounting sense.  It's simply an attempt to acknowledge that there has been a benefit, unchallenged, on the basis of Union's benefit.  That's the reason that I did the tradeoff.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Is there not a continuing benefit from that incremental storage space being available, and to the extent that, even on the NGEIR decision, some of the proceeds from the sale of services from that space would be attributed to ratepayers?

     MR. WARREN:  I think that's fair.  I simply have no way of calculating that. I have no way of knowing what that 

figure would be.  I have no way of estimating it.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  But, to the extent that there might be 

ongoing benefits, if they could be calculated or could be 

estimated, you would accept that they should also be --

     MR. WARREN:  I think logically that they also have to 

be subtracted from the gain.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  What if it were to be that -- over the 

long term that that benefit was actually larger than the 

one-time sale of the commodity? 

     MR. WARREN:  I suppose the logic of it would be that it would be a total offset.  That's fair enough.  I simply have no way of knowing that, though.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar, who's next?  Mr. Ryder.

     CLOSING SUBMISSIONS BY MR. RYDER:

     MR. RYDER:  I submit that a reasonable starting point 

for the issues that you face today are the Board's two 

decisions, the first dated June 28, 2006, and the second 

January 30, 2007, because those cases taken together 

addressed a number of points that govern today's 

deliberations.

     First of all, of course, both determined that the Board has jurisdiction to take the gain into account when 

determining rates.  Secondly, the decision on January 30, 2007, at page 15, determined the rationale or the basis underpinning your decision to take the gain into account, and that is the disincentive consideration, or the disincentive factor, which at page 15 of the January 30 decision the Board described as:

”… the need to curb any inclination a utility may have to sell assets which are needed for the provision of the regulated service but which have appreciated in value."

     Stopping there, I submit that the January 30th 

decision set out the first issue which you face, and that is, does the disincentive factor apply in the circumstances of this case?  

     I'll just recite the next two issues which I think 

are before you today and go on to the other benefits that 

can be gleaned from the earlier two decisions.

     The second issue, as I see it, is, if the disincentive 

factor does apply, what is the allocation, then, that it indicates between shareholder and customer?

     Then, thirdly, the method of allocation amongst 

customers.

     Now, going back to the two decisions of June 28, ‘06, 

and January 30th of this year, those decisions also eliminated factors which in the past have been considered in this case, but which I submit need not be considered any 

further.

     The first is whether there has been any harm to 

ratepayers.  I submit that the "no harm" issue became a 

factor because we were focussing on the ATCO case, but, as 

the Board pointed out on January 30th, the "no harm" issue 

is a factor under the Alberta Act, when it gives or withholds its approval for the sale.  In Ontario, because there is no approval provision, the "no harm" test is irrelevant.

     Also, the fact that the object of the sale was on the 

books of Union as a capital asset, I submit, is now 

immaterial, for reasons which I will deal with in a minute, 

but at the moment it may suffice to say it's immaterial to 

the Board's decision on its jurisdictional right to address the case.  This is clear from both decisions.  The January 30th decision deals with this at page 12 and the June 28th decision deals with it at page 10.  Both decisions refer to paragraph 81 in the Supreme Court of Canada decision in ATCO.

     The other instruction I take from these two cases is 

that when the Board confirmed its jurisdiction, it did so by recognizing that the subject matter of the sale -- that is, the gas -- is still needed for the provision of the regulated service.  The basis on which the January 30th decision took jurisdiction was that it needed to address the necessary incentive to prevent a utility or to curb a utility's inclination to sell an asset that is still needed for the provision of the regulated service.

     I think by strong implication that decision confirmed or is based on the acknowledgement that the gas -- the subject matter of the sale -- is needed for the regulated 

service.

     Also I submit that the implication arising from 

that phrase on page 15 of the January 30th decision eliminates the non-utility argument of the company in that, if this is a non-utility asset, then the Board doesn't have jurisdiction.  But having taken jurisdiction, then the non-utility argument, I think, is, by strong implication, eliminated.

     So let me turn to the first issue, which is whether the disincentive factor applies in the circumstances here.

     And I say the answer is obviously "yes", for a number of reasons.  First, as Mr. Warren states, the subject matter of the transaction is gas.  In other words, cushion gas, the asset, is the same chemical substance as gas, the working inventory or company-used gas.


So accordingly, the subject matter of the sale transaction is an asset, which continues to be, in the words of the Board at page 15, "needed for provision of the regulated service".

     So it may be surplus gas as -- surplus asset as cushion gas, but it is still gas and, therefore, needed for any number of other regulated services.

     And I submit that it is obviously important that a utility should not be allowed to sell off a low-costing asset which it continuously needs and, because it needs the asset, will replace it with the same asset at a higher cost.


Accordingly, this is a case, I submit, where the incentive factor dealt with at page 15 of the Board's decision is particularly powerful.

     And the reason I say you can't have a utility selling off its assets which have appreciated in value if they're still needed, and then replacing the sold asset with the same asset, or the same substance, at a higher cost, is --from the customer's point of view, that is merely selling low and buying high, which is not a good business practice, and it ignores the utility's responsibility to the Board and to customers to run an efficient business and to not add unnecessarily to its operating costs.

     So I submit that the company, subject to competition, for example, wouldn't sell low and buy high.  And I submit regulation as a surrogate for competition shouldn't allow one of its regulated companies to do the same.

     I submit a regulator should discourage a utility from selling low and buying high, to the detriment of customers.

     So that is why I say the disincentive factor here is -- should be made as strongly as you can.

     Now, Union's argument rests on a distinction between cushion gas as a capital asset and gas as inventory available for sale, or gas which is otherwise usable to provide the regulated service.  And I submit that this distinction does not govern the outcome of this case.

     First, I say, by implication, it has been eliminated by the manner in which the Board phrased the disincentive factor at page 15 of the January 30th decision.

     And clearly, therefore, it doesn't affect the Board's jurisdiction.  This distinction between capital and non-capital asset doesn't affect the Board's jurisdiction.

     Secondly, I say Union has itself cut through the 

distinction when it sold the gas.  This has to be a sale from inventory.  The gas was not cushion gas, the capital asset, anymore, because it had been deemed surplus to cushion gas requirements in early spring of 2004, and its only use at the moment of sale was working inventory.


When it was sold, I submit, it couldn't have been sold as cushion gas, because if it was cushion gas, it wouldn't have been sold.

     So as I say, the Board cut through the distinction itself at page 15.

     And then, thirdly, the conversion of cushion gas, the 

capital asset, to saleable inventory is an acceptable feature of your regulatory regime.  It's reflected in the Board's Uniform System of Accounts, particularly the note to item 458, which is the account for base pressure gas.  And the note requires that any withdrawal from storage for consumption should be credited to account 152, the account 

for gas in storage available for sale.

     And I say that the problem with Union's argument that it is selling a capital asset over which the customers have 

no interest is that it fails to recognize what the Board found at page 15, and that is that the asset has a continuing use for the provision of the regulated service.

     So it's a clever argument that the company has 

presented to you, and is based on accounting features, but I say that whenever an adjudicator is faced with an argument that appears too clever by half, that you should apply what is known as the "Globe and Mail test”, and that is, how would you feel if you saw a Globe and Mail headline stating that natural gas sold by Union was found not to be needed by the Energy Board for the provision of Union's utility service?  And I say that points out the ridiculousness of the finding that Union is asking you to make.

     So therefore, I say the disincentive factor described at page 15 of the decision on January 30th is applicable here, and accordingly, Union should be curbed from selling off its higher-costing assets that are still usable.


Now, the -- selling off its lower-costing assets that are still usable, and then having to replace them by a higher-cost equivalent.

     Now, the second issue is the disposition as between shareholder and customer.  And because this is a classic case of the concern that the Board expressed at page 15 of the January 30th decision -- and this is -- and the fact situation here falls squarely within the principle that the Board enunciated, the disincentive principle that the Board enunciated -- I submit again that the strongest disincentive should apply and, therefore, a 100 per cent allocation to customers is appropriate.

     And I'd note that, in support that a 100 percent 

allocation is consistent, the way prudent gas purchases and sales are always treated, in that shareholders are always kept whole, without risk with respect to the purchase and 

sale of gas; and also, the 100 percent allocation still leaves an incentive with Union to efficiently operate its storage pools.


Before the forbearance called for by NGEIR, Union will receive 25 percent of the profits of the additional storage it created.  And with forbearance, after a while, over time, that percentage will increase to 100 percent.

     I think the only point which argues for a sharing of the gain with shareholders is the practice of the parties in past settlements, as noted by the Board in the January 30th decision at page 14.  And these settlements show a 50/50 split.

     But I submit that's not an appropriate balance for the circumstances here, first, because the practice had its origins in cases where land and buildings were sold, where the shareholder had some legitimacy to its claim.  But that doesn't apply in the case of the sale of gas, which is an asset which is continuously necessary to the regulated service.

     And secondly, as noted, this is an extreme case respecting the sale of a necessary utility asset.

     And finally, in Exhibit B6.13, Union took the position 

that these elements were without prejudice, and therefore 

neither relevant nor admissible in this case.  Accordingly, 

Union has already foreclosed itself from relying on the 

practice of sharing in these settlements.

Also, these settlements are not a strong guide in themselves because they were not a litigated result.  They were part of a settlement package, and who knows what else was involved in the settlement package, but other considerations.

     The issue wasn't inquired into as it has been today and in two previous decisions before the Board.  So, I submit that those settlements are completely pre-empted by the additional knowledge that has been gained in this case.

     That leads me to the final issue, which is the allocation amongst customers.  The only exhibit on the point is Exhibit B4.11, which is Union's proposal for allocating the gain.  It is submitted that this proposal is appropriate in that the gain arises from the sale of a storage asset.  It is noted that no other party has proposed any alternative allocation that I am aware of.

     Those are my submissions.  Thank you.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Ryder, going back to your Globe

and Mail test”, or maybe "Toronto Star test”, these days, 

do you distinguish cushion gas from land when you talk about the disincentive factor?

     MR. RYDER:  Yes.

     MR. VLAHOS:  I would be interested in those views.  Just let me finish my thought or my question on this.  

What about a building?  The difference, I guess, that 

I'm trying to draw out here is that the land is a 

nondepreciable asset and building is.  Can you help me as to why you distinguish cushion gas from those two other assets, and whether your Globe and Mail test is still relevant when it comes to land and buildings?

     MR. RYDER:  You would be happy with The Globe and Mail headline, I submit, with respect to the sale of land.  With respect to the sale of a building, I'm not sure what the result would be.  Perhaps that would be a case where a sharing might be more appropriate.

     I don't know that the disincentive factor would apply to a building that had to be replaced.  But I say the disincentive factor is very strong with respect to the sale of gas, which has to be replaced by the very same substance.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Ryder, maybe I'm out of space in the current building, and I want to sell this and buy another one at ten times the price.  That's the new market price of a building, as opposed to the book value of the existing building.  I'm losing you a bit there in terms of the incentive or disincentive.   

MR. RYDER:  Let me get some help on this.

[Conferring.]

     Well, going back to the “Globe and Mail test”, the reader would know that gas is incidental to the operation of a gas utility –- integral, necessary.   A building can be justified in upgrading, but you don't upgrade gas.  But you can upgrade a building.  So there is some justification in trading in one building for a new building.  But I submit there is no just justification for trading in one molecule of gas for another.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, sir.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Ryder, let's assume that this was 

working gas, which you say, and it was sold at working-gas 

prices.  And so you say, well, it really should have been reclassified.  If it had been reclassified, we would get to keep the profit or we would at least have the money to go buy replacement gas so we wouldn't be out-of-pocket.

     That ignores this whole question of the benefit.  By selling this gas, huge amounts of new storage became available to the marketplace, and the customer received some of the value of that storage.

     Do you just ignore that?

     MR. RYDER:  No.  I say that both parties, customer and 

shareholder, receive the benefit of the new storage, particularly the shareholder.  In the circumstances of storage today, eventually that benefit will entirely fall to the shareholder.

     MR. KAISER:  So you say that benefit, which it clearly 

is a benefit, it clearly is a new asset that didn't exist as long as the cushion gas was in the ground, that the NGEIR rules would appropriately allocate the benefit of that new asset?

     MR. RYDER:  Yes, with or without NGEIR, Union benefits from the creation of the new storage, so I say that the benefit to one side as a factor shouldn't weigh against that side's claim here, because both sides received a benefit from the creation of the Union storage.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Ryder, unlike Mr. Warren, your position is that the ratepayer should receive the benefit of that sale and continue to receive the benefits from the incremental storage surplus?

     MR. RYDER:  We'll receive the benefit from the incremental storage for a while.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  But you would not net one off against the other?

     MR. RYDER:  I would not, because both sides receive a benefit.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Now, as you've described it, you would allocate the proceeds of the sale to ratepayers as a disincentive to Union from disposing of an asset that is still of use.  Then you have concluded that the allocation that appears at B4.11 is the appropriate one.  I'm just wondering about that.

     The allocation that's at B4.11 would allocate the proceeds on the basis of how cushion gas is allocated.  And I am wondering, have you considered any alternatives to that, which I would wonder would be more consistent with your argument; in other words, if that gas was reclassified and flowed to system-gas, is that where the benefit should fall?

Or, likewise, if that gas was reclassified in some other way -- in other words, I guess what I'm asking you is, would it be your position that, in fact the benefits should be allocated in a way that that gas should have been used?

     MR. RYDER:  No.  My submission is that it should be 

allocated the way Union has suggested here because that reflects the fact that -- the manner in which the customers have paid for the carrying costs.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

     MR. KAISER:  Who's next?  Mr. DeRose.

     CLOSING SUBMISSIONS BY MR. DeROSE:

     MR. DeROSE:  That would be me.  Thank you, Mr. Chair, 

Members of the Panel.

     I want to start off by addressing one issue raised in 

Mr. Penny's earlier submissions with respect to retroactive 

rate-making.  I would just bring the Board's attention to the January 30th decision, starting on page 16.  The Board specifically addressed this issue and found as follows,

“In the original decision, the Board considered argument presented by Union on two additional matters."

The two additional matters were bias and retroactive rates.  And then, at the end of that sentence it says, "The Board rejected both of these arguments.”  One of those arguments that the Board rejected was Mr. Penny's argument on retroactive rates.

     Then, if you turn the page, on page 17 the Board found as follows:

"These two issues are outside the scope of the review as framed by combined procedural orders 10 and 4, and the Board will therefore make no further comment on these issues.  The decision in the original decision stands.”

It should be noted that neither of these findings have been challenged by any party to date.

In IGUA's submission, the issue of retroactive rates is not a live issue before this Panel.  That has been decided and was specifically addressed in the January 30th decision.

     Turning to IGUA's arguments in this motion -- or, I'm sorry, in this stage of the process.  IGUA bases its argument today on the entire record, but in particular I want to raise your attention to two affidavits filed on behalf of IGUA.  The affidavits are in the name of Peter Fournier, the former president of IGUA.  The first is dated 

March 27th, 2006, and the second is dated July 31, 2006.  I will be referring to the affidavits in my argument.


And also, just to raise with the Board that on April 23 of 2007, Mr. Penny confirmed in writing to the Board that he had elected not to cross-examine Mr. Fournier on the contents of those affidavits.


Now, I agree with Mr. Penny that many of the facts are not in dispute in this case.  And I wish to just reaffirm or reiterate some of the facts which IGUA believes are important to the Board's consideration of these issues.

     The transaction giving rise to the revenues and the resulting capital gain which are at issue in this proceeding are from a sale of cushion gas, which Union withdrew from the utility-owned underground storage facilities.

     The withdrawal took place in 2004, and Union did not 

seek prior Board approval for its plan to sell the cushion gas.

     Union did not reclassify the volume of gas previously classified as base pressure gas to gas in storage available 

for sale.

     Union's sale of gas withdrawn from storage was also not transacted under the auspices of one of its Board-approved rate schedules encompassing transactional services.

     In cross-examination this morning, Mr. Warren brought out the fact that, once the cushion gas was no longer required as cushion gas, it could still be used as gas commodity in the marketplace.  And, in fact, this is what happened.  Union sold the gas or transferred the gas to an affiliate, and that affiliate then resold the gas into the marketplace.

     That gas was not sold as cushion gas, it was sold as gas for end-use, the same way that gas in inventory or working gas would be sold.

     The proceeds from the sale were about 13.4 million before tax, and the realized gain at issue in this case is about 12.8 million.

     The other important points brought out in cross-examination this morning are as follows.

     There is no technical reason that prevented Union from using the gas, the cushion gas, as gas for its ratepayers.  The explanation was that the gas supply plan for 2004 had already been established at the time that the sale had occurred, and that there was sufficient gas for customers and, as such, the cushion gas was not required.

     Now, in looking at that fact, IGUA submits it is important to note that Union knew early in 2001, had identified the possibility of the excess cushion gas.


Union, in our submission, could very well have considered the possibility of the sale or the fact that the sale would likely occur, in the summer of 2003, when it was preparing its gas supply plan, and it could have taken that into consideration.  And had they done that, they would not have had to buy as much gas as they did for 2004.

     Let me turn to the January 30th, 2007 decision.  This Board concluded that it has jurisdiction to allocate any portion of the proceeds of the cushion gas sale so as to reduce the rates Union charges to its customers.

     The January 30th, 2007, decision ordered the original Panel to consider the extent to which, if any, the proceeds from the sale of cushion gas should be allocated between the ratepayers and the shareholder, in light of the Board's finding that it had jurisdiction.

     In addressing this issue, IGUA will propose two questions.  The first is:  How should the 2004 sale of cushion gas be accounted for in 2004?  In our submission, it should have been reclassified as gas in storage available for sale.  Had this happened, 100 percent of the benefit of the cushion gas would have flowed through to ratepayers.

     If this Panel does not accept our position on the first question, then IGUA's second question will be whether the Board should allocate a portion of the proceeds to ratepayers in order to curb the inclination Union may have to sell assets which are needed for the provision of the regulated services -- or, I'm sorry, service, but have appreciated over the year.

     This is in many ways Mr. Ryder's "disincentive factor" argument, although we will have some additional nuances to 

it.

     After addressing these two questions, I have a short submission on the cost allocation of the gain if all or a portion is allocated to ratepayers.  So let me turn to the first question:  How should the 2004 sale of cushion gas have been accounted for in 2004?

     I am going to be making reference to Mr. Fournier's affidavit of March 27, 2006.  I don't think it's necessary that you pull it up, although I'm simply signalling that I will be referring to it.

     As set out at paragraph 7 of Mr. Fournier's affidavit -- this is the March 27th, 2006 affidavit -- when Union injects gas into a storage reservoir, a certain portion of volume of the gas must remain in that storage reservoir to preserve its integrity.


The minimum volume below which gas storage cannot be withdrawn without causing harm to Union's storage is referred to as "cushion gas" or "base pressure gas".  And by definition, base pressure gas or cushion gas remains in the reservoir and cannot be withdrawn.

     Now, Mr. Fournier's affidavit of March 27, 2006, on page 4, paragraph 9, reproduces two provisions of the Uniform System of Accounts.  And Mr. Ryder made reference to these provisions, and I think it's important just to reiterate on the record what these two provisions set out.

     The first is 152:  Gas in storage available for sale.  And the Uniform System of Accounts sets out that:

"This account shall include the cost of gas purchased or produced, which is stored and held for use in meeting gas consumption requirements of the customers' or the utility's own use."

     It goes on to say that:

"Gas included in this account shall be valued at cost on a consistent basis."

     But turning to Section 458, the base pressure gas, it reads as follows:

"This account shall include the cost of gas in underground storage that is required as a base pressure for the operation of underground storage."

     Now, if I stop there, that is the account that the cushion gas, when it was still cushion gas, when it was -- before the sale, that's the account that it was held in, as a non-depreciable capital asset.


But there is then a note underneath that clause, and the note reads as follows:

"Gas deliveries to, or withdrawals from, underground storage for customer consumption shall be charged or credited to account number 152, gas in storage available for sale."

     Now, this express note, IGUA submits, means that the only gas Union can withdraw from underground storage and sell as inventory or working gas, which is being classified under the Board's Uniform System of Accounts in account number 152 -- gas in Union's underground storage facilities which is no longer needed as cushion gas or base pressure gas cannot be withdrawn from storage and sold without first being reclassified as gas in inventory, under section 152.  

To interpret the note for account 458 in any other way would, in effect, make that note meaningless.  In IGUA's submission, it is incumbent upon this Board to interpret the Uniform System of Accounts in a meaningful way, and in a manner that gives meaning to all of the provisions of the 

Uniform System of Accounts, including the note under 458.

     Now, had this happened, had the gas been reclassified from account 458 to account 152, in IGUA's submission, 100 percent of the benefit would have flowed to ratepayers.

The requirement that base pressure gas be reclassified to gas in inventory or working gas before withdrawal and sale is not a novel theory that has been developed by IGUA.  This is an approach that is used in other jurisdictions.

In this regard I gave to Mr. Millar this morning two cases, although I'm only planning on referring to one, from the Public Utilities Commission of the State of California.  Mr. Millar, it says: "Interim Opinion."

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.  I'll bring these 

up to the Panel.  While we are doing this, I neglected to mark -- I think it was the decision referred to by Mr. Warren.  This was EB-2001-0032.  We'll call that K1.3, and I believe the Panel already has copies of this.  We will therefore call Mr. DeRose's decision from the State of California K1.4.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  EB-2001-0032 DECISION

EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  STATE OF CALIFORNIA DECISION

     MR. DeROSE:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  As Mr. Millar is bringing those cases up to you, Mr. Chair, members of the 

Panel, I have given Mr. Penny a copy.  I believe copies have been distributed electronically to, I'm hoping, most or all of my friends.  I do have additional copies available, if anyone would like another copy.

     MR. KAISER:  Is there a final opinion, Mr. DeRose?

     MR. DeROSE:  There is, although you will see that I have only given you the interim opinion, because the interim opinion is dealing with whether the gas can be reclassified or not, and that the later phase of the proceeding or the final opinion addresses who should benefit from the revenues generated from the sale of additional Bcf of gas storage capacity.  So, the final decision deals with the resulting gas storage capacity, not with the reclassification itself.

     MR. KAISER:  What was the result, in the final opinion, as to the allocation?

     MR. DeROSE:  Off the top of my head, I apologize, Mr. Chair, I wouldn't be able to tell you.  I do have another case here that does deal with that issue, and in that case, just to indicate the way that the State of California has dealt with it, they split it a 60/40 between core and what they call "non-core."  But, in my submission, the value of this case or the purpose of this case is simply to show you the manner in which cushion gas has been accounted for by other jurisdictions.  

If you see in the summary -- this is on page 1 -- the Southern California Gas Company filed an application requesting, amongst other things, authorization to reclassify 4 billion cubic feet or 4 Bcf of cushion gas from two of its natural gas storage fields to working gas, and that the gas in kind be transferred to its ratepayers in the CARE program at book value of about 1.5 million.

To provide a little bit of background, the CARE program is, as I understand it, a rate affordability program that is created pursuant to California legislation.  And so it is a state-created or a state-legislated program for low-income customers.

     In this case, Southern California Gas Company did 

not take the position that it should, that it was entitled, because this is a capital asset, to sell the gas on its own, but rather they asked for permission to reclassify the gas for the benefit of its ratepayers.

     MR. KAISER:  But presumably they were required by 

the statute to obtain that authorization; isn't that so?

     MR. DeROSE:  Yes, they were.

     MR. KAISER:  The January 30th decision in this proceeding, the Board said that not only was Union not required to seek approval.  The Board had no jurisdictions to stop the sale.  Isn't that a different situation?

     MR. DeROSE:  Well, I certainly acknowledge that the statute is different, Mr. Chair.  The fact that the uniform accounting system, in our position, does require that the gas be reclassified.  And I don't believe that the January 30th decision found otherwise.  There was no finding on that at all.  This case simply shows that, in other jurisdictions, the reclassification of cushion gas to working gas is seen as an appropriate --

     MR. KAISER:  But you are saying that in your view there was an obligation on Union here to come to the Board and obtain Board authorization to reclassify the gas as in 

California.  Is that the position?

     MR. DeROSE:  No, my position is that Union had the obligation to reclassify it.

     MR. KAISER:  With or without Board approval?

     MR. DeROSE:  Correct.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.

     MR. DeROSE:  And that once it is reclassified, Mr. 

Chair, then Union would -- once it becomes gas inventory available for sale, then obviously Union has to follow either the existing Board orders with respect to its rate schedules or to deal with it in an upcoming case.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. DeRose, that's pursuant to the Uniform System of Accounts?

     MR. DeROSE:  Correct.

     MR. VLAHOS:  It is not because of Union's goodwill, you are suggesting?

     MR. DeROSE:  No, although I don't want you to interpret -- my argument is that it is because of the Uniform System of Accounts.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.

     MR. KAISER:  But you are saying -- --

     MR. DeROSE:  But do not take any comment to be in any way contradictive to Mr. Warren's position that Union still 

has an obligation to act in the best interests of its ratepayers.  I don't see them as an "either/or."

     MR. KAISER:  But you are alleging that Union had an obligation, a legal obligation, to seek reclassification, and they didn't, and your authority for that is a fair reading of the Uniform System of Accounts.

     MR. DeROSE:  Correct.  And the way that I would phrase it is not that they had an obligation to seek reclassification, but to reclassify.  Period.

     Now, Panel, as set out in paragraph 5 of Mr. Fournier's July 21st, 2006, affidavit, it is IGUA's position that Union's failure to reclassify and record the cushion gas volume reduction amount in account 152, before withdrawing the gas from storage and selling it, harmed ratepayers.  This is, as the Chair has put to Mr. Warren, the "cheap gas" argument.  In our submission, ratepayers have been deprived of their entitlement to that gas pursuant to the Uniform System of Accounts.  They should have received the revenues realized on the sale of gas through the operation of the Board-approved Uniform System of Accounts.

Now, these measures reflect the Board's policy that Union is not to earn a profit or suffer a loss as a result 

of its purchase and sale of gas.  Put another way, it is our position that there is a policy with respect to gas that benefits or burdens associated with gas costs flow through to the ratepayers.

     And in this regard, at the Technical Conference, starting at page 24, I put the question to Mr. Baker as follows:

"Panel, do you agree that the Board has historically had a policy with respect to gas costs, that the benefits and burdens associated with gas costs will flow through to the ratepayers and keep the shareholder whole from gas costs?"


And Mr. Baker answered:

"For gas available for resale to customers; correct."

     And in our submission, if we are correct that pursuant to the Uniform -- sorry, that if we are correct and this gas should have been reclassified, then that would have become gas available for sale, and the Board's policy that the benefits and burdens of the gas flow through to ratepayers would operate.

     So just to sum up this first question, if the Board finds that the base pressure gas should have been reclassified, then IGUA requests an order requiring that Union's current rates be reduced to appropriately reflect 100 percent of the gain that was realized by withdrawing 

or selling cushion gas in 2004.


And in our submission, such an order would properly enforce both your Uniform System of Accounts and continue to adhere to your no-profit and no-loss on gas-costs policy pertaining to Union's purchase and sale of natural gas.

     So let me turn to the second question.  If the Board disagrees with our first proposition, then should the Board allocate a portion of the proceeds to ratepayers in order to curb the inclination that Union may have to sell assets which are needed for the provision of the regulated service, but have appreciated over the years?


To be clear, this is an alternative argument.  If the Board agrees that the base pressure gas should have been reclassified, then, in our submission, there is no need for you to address this argument.

     If, however, the Board disagrees with IGUA's interpretation of the Uniform System of Accounts, then it should nevertheless order that a portion of the gain be shared with the ratepayers by the shareholders.

     Now, Mr. Ryder referred to page 15 of the January 30th decision.  And just to be clear, on page 15, at the bottom, the Board recognized as follows:

"It is also true that the prospect of a Board consideration of the proceeds from sales of capital property and the possibility of an allocation of some portion of such proceeds to ratepayers can curb any inclination a utility may have to sell assets which are needed for provision of the regulated service but which have appreciated in value over the years.  Unlike the AEUB, this Board has no role in approving the sale of capital property, which the utility has identified as surplus to its needs.  It cannot prohibit such sales on a finding that the interests of ratepayers have been harmed by them.  However..."


And this is, in our submission, the important sentence of this paragraph:

"...the OEB must be able to incent and disincent utilities through its rate-making powers as contained in the statute.  This approach, I submit, is consistent with previous jurisprudence of this Board, as well as with other regulators."


At the bottom of page 14 of the January 30th decision, the Board recognizes a number of situations where it has previously either approved settlement agreements where there has been a sharing of such capital gains, as well as a decision.


Now, Mr. Penny spent some time this morning talking about the "no property interest" argument, which I would summarize as the argument that ratepayers have no legal or proprietary interest in gains flowing from the sale of a capital asset, and the "no harm to be remedied" argument.

     In my submission, this Board has the jurisdiction and is entitled to order the sharing of the gain, even if it finds that there is no property interest held by ratepayers, and if it finds that there is no harm at the moment to be remedied.

     To a large extent, in our -- or in our submission, these are, to a large extent, red herrings.  The --

     MR. KAISER:  But can I just stop you?

     MR. DeROSE:  Yes.

     MR. KAISER:  Let's suppose that's correct.  Then the rationale would be one of incentives.  Is that your position?

     MR. DeROSE:  I'm sorry, Mr. Chairman?

     MR. KAISER:  If the rationale is not harm, if the rationale is not property interest, the rationale that you're basing your argument on is incentives.

     MR. DeROSE:  Correct.

     MR. KAISER:  Are there any other rationales, other than those three, at play, in your view?

     MR. DeROSE:  Well, with respect to this portion of my argument, no.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.

     MR. DeROSE:  My argument -- and Mr. Ryder has referred to this as the "disincentive factor" --

     MR. KAISER:  Right.  So let's suppose that in the name of incentives or disincentives, the Board says, 'None of it -- it all goes to the ratepayer, none of it goes to the shareholder.'

     Now, let's suppose, as a result of that, Union says, 

'Okay.  We're not selling any more cushion gas.'  Now, let's suppose, as a result of that, there's no new storage that might be occasioned by the release of cushion gas.  Is your client really better off?

     MR. DeROSE:  Well, Mr. Chair, if you find -- if you do 

not agree with our interpretation of the Uniform System of 

Accounts, then we would not be recommending that 100 percent of the gain flow through to ratepayers.


And so if your finding is based on the ability and the entitlement of the Board to encourage the utility to act in certain ways through your establishment of just and reasonable rates, in our submission, there should be a sharing, and not 100 percent flowing through to ratepayers.  And I'll get to that --

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.

     MR. DeROSE:  -- in one moment.


Now, in our -- Union has filed -- and it was called -- it was filed, I believe, on February 3, 2005.  It's the Union Gas Limited evidentiary record, pursuant to Procedural Order Number 10 and Number 4.  And it contained an entire copy of the ATCO decision.


I'm not -- Mr. Millar, does the Panel have a copy of...?

     MR. MILLAR:  Certainly it's in the evidence.  I'm not sure if the Panel has a copy with them now.

     MR. PENNY:  If I might interject for a moment.  What I was referring to, and what we spoke to when we filed the material for this proceeding, was that in connection with the re-hearing motion of the other Panel of the Board, we put together the entire record to that point into one brief, and filed multiple copies of that with the Board.


And when I wrote to the Board with our copy of the supplementary evidence, we alluded to this.  I was hoping that you would have had access to this, or to a copy of this.  This was filed last year, for the other Panel on the rehearing motion.

     MR. DeROSE:  Perhaps -- I think I can make do without, Mr. Chair, members of the Panel.  I apologize.  I thought that this would be available to you.


Contained in this brief is an entire copy of the ATCO decision.  Mr. Penny does have a copy of a portion of the ATCO decision in his brief of cases which he filed this morning, but not the section that I had hoped to refer to or to take you through.


And so perhaps I can just still take you through the cases.  I don't think they have to be in front of you.  And if necessary, you can go back.

     MR. KAISER:  I think you can just give us the paragraphs.  We have hundreds of copies of this decision.

     MR. DeROSE:  That's fine.  I assume that you may know it by heart.  I would be starting at paragraph 115. 

Let me start by saying this.  This is from the dissent, not from the majority.  In the normal course, as a lawyer, I am always fearful of ever relying on a dissent, period.  But in this case I believe it is appropriate, for this reason.

     Paragraphs 115 through to 118 provide an overview of various jurisdictions and the manner in which jurisdictions have dealt with the sharing of capital gains, in my submission, to encourage utilities to behave in a certain manner.  Given the Board's decision on January 30th, this case law, I submit to you, is relevant.  I also submit that the majority of the Supreme Court did not find that this case law was bad law, did not overturn this law, but made the decision on, quite frankly, a different basis.  So this law still stands.

     At paragraph 115, the Supreme Court -- again, this is 

the dissenting minority -- referred to Re Consumer Gas.  It's a 1976 case, EBRO-341-I.  In this case the OEB was considering how to deal with a real estate profit on land of approximately $2 million.  They quote the case as follows:

”If in such circumstances the Board were to permit real estate profit to accrue to the shareholders only, it would tend to encourage real estate speculation with utility capital."

     So, there is a 1976 case.  It's the sharing of a capital gain, again, to encourage a certain type of behaviour.

     At the next paragraph, 116, the Court writes as follows:

"Some US regulators also considered good regulatory policy to allocate part or all of the profit to offset costs in the rate base. ‘In Re Boston Gas Company’”

     And again, Re Boston Gas Company is cited in footnote 3 of the January 30th decision of this Board:

"The regulator allocated a gain on the sale of land to ratepayers saying as follows:  'The company and its shareholders have received a return on the use of these parcels while they have been included in rate base, and are not entitled to any additional return as a result of their sale.  To hold otherwise would be to find that a regulated utility company may speculate in non-depreciable utility property, and despite earning a reasonable rate of return from its customers on that property may also accumulate a windfall through its sale'."

     At paragraph 117, the Court goes on to find as follows:

"Canadian regulators other than the Board are also concerned with the prospect that decisions of utilities in their regulated business may be skewed under the undue influence of prospective profits on land sales. In ‘Re Consumers Gas 1991’”-- this is EBRO465 -- ”the OEB determined that the $1.9 million gain on sale of land should be divided equally between shareholders and ratepayers.”

  And it held -- this is the OEB -- as follows:

”The allocation of 100 percent of the profit from land sales to either the shareholders or the ratepayers might diminish the recognition of the valid concerns of the excluded party.  For example, the timing and intensity of land purchase and sales negotiations could be skewed in favour or disregard the ultimate beneficiary'."

     Mr. Chair, I think this addresses the question you put to me when you said if a hundred percent is allocated to ratepayers, would Union be incented or encouraged to sell the rest of the cushion gas in the future?  I think this case addresses that point when they say, "might diminish the recognition of the valid concerns to have excluded party."  This goes right to Mr. Warren's principle about the balancing of ratepayer and shareholder interests, and the importance of acting in the interests of the ratepayers, not just in the interests of the shareholders.

     So, in my submission, there is jurisprudence that supports the allocation of capital gains intended to encourage certain types of behaviour.  This is also, in our submission, consistent with the NGF.  

If I can turn you to Mr. Penny's brief of authorities, he has a copy of the natural gas regulation in Ontario, the “Renewed Policy Framework” at tab 8.  

If you turn to page 2, under "Rate Regulation":

"The Board determined that the gas rate regulation framework must meet the following criteria."

     And one of them is:

"To establish incentives for sustainable  efficiency improvements that benefit  customers and shareholders."

     In my submission, in that spirit, if cushion gas is no longer needed, one of the improvements that should be incurred is that cushion gas should be sold and storage 

should be freed up.  But, on the flip side of that, that cushion gas should not be sold simply because it has appreciated in value and the gain can go straight to the shareholder.  This is a perfect example of a balancing.  

This is an area that it would be balanced to permit the sharing of the disposition between the shareholder and the 

ratepayer.

I would also submit on the next page there is a reference to the multi-year IR plan.  As this Panel well knows, this is currently being considered by the Board.  The process is underway, and I would submit that the sharing of disposition of cushion gas is consistent with the approach that the Board establish a framework that incents or encourages the appropriate type of behaviour.

     What's the behaviour that should be encouraged by the Board?  First of all, the Board should discourage utility from reducing the quality of the regulated service so as to harm ratepayers.  Secondly, this Board should encourage the utility to maximize economic benefits of its operations, and not merely the benefits flowing to shareholders.  And third, this Board should discourage favouritism toward investors to the detriment of ratepayers affected by the transaction.

     In our submission, the sharing of the proceeds in this 

case will provide the right encouragement to ensure that the remaining cushion gas be sold in an appropriate manner, at an appropriate time, and only if it is appropriate to sell it.

     In my submission, if you accept these arguments that there should be sharing, the question is:  How much should the sharing be?

     In 2004, transactional services above the forecasted amount embedded in rates were shared at a 75/25 basis in favour of shareholders.  This Board-approved sharing of proceeds was discussed in the Board's January decision at pages 13 to 14, and that decision recognized that transactional services benefit both the ratepayer and 

the shareholder, and I would submit implicitly also recognized that the split of 75/25 adequately encouraged Union to perform transactional services.  And, given this, 

IGUA would submit that a sharing of 75/25 would be appropriate.

     So, if the Board agrees with IGUA's alternative proposition, then IGUA requests an order requiring Union's current rates to be reduced to reflect 75 percent of the gain realized by the withdrawal and selling of cushion gas in 2004.

     Let me finish with this.  If all or some of the capital gains flows to ratepayers, how should that then be allocated?

      ---REPORTER'S NOTE:  Mr. Buonaguro enters room

     MR. DeROSE:  We agree with Mr. Ryder that the allocation factor is provided by Union at Exhibit B4.11.  In our submission, that is the only evidence on the record in terms of the appropriate allocation of the gain, and we would endorse it.

On a final note, we would submit that IGUA has participated responsibly in these proceedings.  IGUA has submitted the affidavits of Mr. Fournier to establish facts upon which it has based previous submissions and submissions in this case, and we would request an award of 100 percent of our reasonably incurred costs in connection with this proceeding.

     Subject to any questions that you may have, those are IGUA's submissions, Mr. Chair, members of the Panel.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. DeRose, your argument is that 100 percent of the profit going to shareholders does create an incentive, but 25 percent does not.

     MR. DeROSE:  I'm sorry, I...

     MR. VLAHOS:  Your argument is that 100 percent of the proceeds going to the shareholders creates an incentive for the shareholder to do certain things that he may not otherwise do, but you're saying that this incentive is not there when it's only -- the sharing is only 25 percent.

     MR. DeROSE:  Let me clarify.  In terms of our alternative argument, our position is that 25 percent sharing of the gain will encourage Union to properly dispose of excess cushion gas in the future, in terms of an appropriate time, in an appropriate manner, et cetera.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Right.

     MR. DeROSE:  In terms of 100 percent, our argument that 100 percent of the gains should flow to ratepayers is based on our first line of argument, which is on the Uniform System of Accounts.  That is not based on whether it would or would not encourage Union.


Our argument on the Uniform System of Accounts is based on the Board's long historical policy of all costs flowing through, both benefits and burdens, to ratepayers when it comes to gas costs.  So if it was transferred to 152, to account 152, it would flow 100 percent to ratepayers.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Yes, I understand that, sir.  But what would make it appropriate behaviour at a 25 percent incentive, as opposed to a 100 percent incentive?  It may not be exactly your argument, but it may be the result, if -- you know, based on the Uniform System of Accounts, or it may be the argument by some other party that it should be 100 percent going to the ratepayers.

     MR. DeROSE:  So you're saying 100 percent to the ratepayers, would this encourage Union to sell its cushion gas in an appropriate manner in the future?  I would simply say this.

     It would depend when in the future, and it would depend on the market value of storage.  One has to keep in mind that, given the NGEIR decision, that there will come a point in time where, due to the forbearance, that a portion, and quite a significant portion, of the ex-franchise storage and their storage capability will be sold to -- at market rates.

     And, I mean, this is starting to get into crystal-ball gazing and trying to predict what will happen in the future, but the NGEIR decision held two-thirds of the storage at this time for system gas.


If, a year or two or three years from now the remaining 2 -- I believe it's 2.3 or 2.4 pJs of cushion gas are sold, I believe an issue would be whether that 2.3 pJs is included outside of that two-thirds, or is that part of the two-thirds determination.  I don't -- and I don't want to put IGUA's position on the -- before the Board at the moment, but that would be a live issue.

     So there will come a point in time, Member Vlahos, that, even without the gain, it may be of value to Union to free up the storage.  But this is really prognostication.

     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Thank you very much.  

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.


Who's next, Mr. DeVellis?


CLOSING ARGUMENT BY MR. DeVELLIS:   

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, sir.  Thank you.

     Mr. Chairman, I'm not going to spend any time on the issue of whether the gas should have been converted to gas inventory once it was no longer needed as cushion gas.  We agree with the submissions of Mr. DeRose and others that it should have, and that the result is that 100 percent of the gain should be allocated to ratepayers on that basis.


And my comments, however, are going to focus on, I suppose it would be so much Mr. DeRose's alternative argument, in the event you don't accept the first argument.


And the first point I would like to make is that the assets we are talking about are utility assets, the acquisition, retention, and disposal of which have financial impacts on ratepayers.

     What Union is asking you to do is take one particular transaction involving that utility asset and remove that for consideration from rate-making purposes, while keeping all other consequences of having that asset assigned to ratepayers.

     And we know, for example, that there is utility costs involved in acquiring the asset and in making the determination to acquire the asset.  There's carrying costs of holding the asset.  There is costs involved in monitoring the asset to determine whether or not it's still required to be in a rate base, and also costs emanating from the timing of the disposal of that asset.


Now, we heard, for example, this morning that -- and at the Technical Conference that Union had all the information it needed with respect to whether or not it could sell the 2004 -- the transaction in 2004 -- had all the information it needed in early 2003.  And that's at pages 33 and 34 of the Technical Conference.  No new information came to light the remainder of that year and up until 2004, when the sale occurred.

     And as a result of that delay in selling the cushion gas, two things happened.  First, the extra storage space that was created from selling that gas was not worked into the 2004 storage forecast -- S&T forecast.  And the result of that, we heard this morning, was a loss to ratepayers of $180,000.


The 1.6 pedajoules of cushion gas remained in rate base because it wasn't forecast for the 2004 rate proceeding.  It remained in rate base for another three years.  And the carrying costs of that are approximately $150,000 to ratepayers for three years.  And that resulted solely from Union's -- from the timing of the sale, with one additional cost to ratepayers.

     Now, Mr. Penny said this morning that ratepayers bear no risk in relation to the asset.  And I submit that that's incorrect, that ratepayers -- in the event that an asset declines in value after it goes into rate base, ratepayers continue to pay the carrying costs on the basis of the original costs of the asset.  And so in that way, as long as the asset remains in rate base, the risk of having the decline in value is passed on to ratepayers.

     Ratepayers also bear the risk of changing economic conditions, to the extent that they are a factor in determining the allowed return on equity of the utility.  If economic conditions worsen, leading to increases in interest rates, for example, that increase in interest rates results in a higher allowed return on equity.


And so in that sense, in that way, economic risks that utilities face are passed on to ratepayers in the form of an increase in the allowed rate of return.

     And as I said earlier, there is also the risk of an asset remaining in rate base for too long, and that, we heard with respect to the 1.6 pedajoules, and also with respect to the 2.7 pedajoules that remains in rate base and which Union has determined as potentially surplus.


Well, if Union is wrong about it being potentially -- about requiring it to be in rate base as of now, that means that ratepayers are essentially paying carrying costs on an asset when it shouldn't be in rate base.  So that risk is borne by the ratepayers.

     So, given all of the costs to ratepayers from the initial decision to purchase an asset, the ongoing cost, and the costs having to do with the timing of the sale and whether or not it should be sold, we believe it's improper to simply take one particular transaction in that spectrum of costs and remove that from rate-making -- from your consideration for rate-making purposes.

     Now, Mr. DeRose and Mr. Ryder went on, spoke to you at 

length, about the issue of incentives, and so I won't dwell on it, but the only comment I would like to make is that Mr. Penny argued, essentially, that economic efficiency requires that all of the gains on a sale of an asset be allocated to shareholders.  That assumes that allowing the company to keep all the proceeds of sale creates an incentive to Union or to the utility to put the asset to its most efficient use.  And we submit that that's not necessarily the case; that, under Union's proposed model, the company would have incentive to sell an asset based on its own expected gain or loss regardless of whether that transaction resulted in a net loss to society.

     The cost to ratepayers in that model would be expected 

to be an externality and would be a broad incentive to Union to produce an inefficient result, albeit one that has a net gain to the shareholder.

     A final point I want to make is that allowing the utility to keep all of the gain on sale of its asset will yield the windfall to the utility at the expense of ratepayers.  The reason I say that is that the cases 

that Mr. DeRose took you through, I believe, have created a reasonable expectation in this province about how gains are 

to be shared on a disposition of an asset.

     To the extent that parties had that expected disposition in mind, that would have affected the parties' expected total return on an asset.  And so it would have been worked into the appropriate return on equity that was allocated to the utility.

     If you now change that allocation and give a hundred percent to the shareholder, that, in effect, means that the shareholder has been overcompensated for its use of the asset for all these years.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  I'm sorry, Mr. DeVellis, I want to make sure I understand your point.

     You are suggesting that past practice would lead there to be an expectation in the market that gains would be shared, and that this would somehow have an effect on the cost of equity in the market?  I'm trying to understand that link.

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  Well, not cost-effectiveness in the market, but it would be one of the assumptions that the Board and parties would rely on in terms of setting an appropriate return on equity.  When we think of return on equity, it's a cost to provide the utility with a return on its investment, and part of that return, if we think about a private investor in the general market, part of the return that he or she would be looking at would be the return on disposition. 

For example, if there is a change in capital gains tax, then the private investor, their approach to an investment, the annual return that they require from that investment would decrease because they now have a higher expectation upon the disposition of the asset.  And so the total return will increase.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Are you referring, sir, to the regulatory or business risk that is embedded into a return on common equity?  Is that what you are referring to?

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  Yes.  Right.  And, for those reasons, we believe that the gain on the sale should be allocated 100 percent to the ratepayers.  And, as I said, if you do not accept the argument that the gas should have been converted to gas inventory upon disposition, then we believe that the gain should be allocated in accordance with past practice, which produced a split of 50/50.

     I want to make one brief point with respect to the storage issue and the benefit created by the extra storage when the cushion gas was sold.

     In our submission, that extra storage would have been created in any event, no matter how you allocate the gain on the particular sale of cushion gas, and the fact that selling the cushion gas created extra storage did not play any role in Union's decision to sell the gas.  I believe what the evidence says is that the decision to sell was based entirely on operational needs.

     MR. KAISER:  But you would agree, Mr. DeVellis, that storage created in this fashion is a lot cheaper than new storage?

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  My point is that it didn't play a role in Union's decision-making; it's an incidental benefit to that decision-making.  And I don't think it should be a factor in the Board's determination of how to allocate the gain.

     MR. KAISER:  But it is beneficial to the consumers to 

have storage freed up at such a low cost, is it not?

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  I don't deny that there has been a benefit to consumers.  But my point is, from a policy perspective, the fact that there has been an incidental benefit which played no role in the utility's decision-making shouldn't be a factor in the Board's decision-making.

     MR. KAISER:  So you don't buy this incentive theory, that somehow the allocation impacts the incentive to create storage in this fashion or not.  It's irrelevant to you how new storage comes on to the market?  The argument is that it's very efficient, that these incentives are supposed to derive efficiency, and it's very efficient for all of the players to have new storage come on the market without any substantial incremental costs.  You don't think that's a factor we should consider?

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  It is a factor I think you could consider.  My point is I don't think that it was a factor that Union considered, and therefore I don't think it is a factor that you should consider in terms of allocating this particular gain or loss.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. DeVellis, why do you say that it was not a factor operationally?  You say that Union Gas has discovered or has determined operationally that it could do with less cushion gas.  Now, if I didn't have an incentive to make a buck out of this initiative, why would I ask my engineers to check and see whether I could do with less cushion gas?

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  I think -- right.  I don't think that the incentive was creating additional storage.  The incentive, if any, was creating a capital gain, or the company discovered that there was this asset in rate base that was no longer required and therefore they would sell it.  But I don't think there is any evidence that the decision-making was spurred by an effort to create additional storage.

     MR. VLAHOS:  But assuming on the scenario that the shareholder is not making anything out of a gain, why would the company ask its engineers to find out if there are any efficiencies that could be had from the operation of the storage?

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  I think this is why we recommend that the gain be split between shareholders.  We don't say that -- under this argument, that a hundred percent of the gain should go to shareholders.  The hundred percent argument is on the basis of the gas being taken from inventory at the time of disposition.  But under this alternative argument, we don't say that a hundred percent should go to ratepayers, and for that very reason, we think there should have to be a balance between an incentive to sell when you don't need it, but not provide an incentive to sell when it is still needed.

     MR. KAISER:  But it goes back to Mr. Vlahos' question 

to Mr. DeRose.  Either you believe in incentive or you don't believe in incentive.  If you don't believe in incentive, if it's immaterial, then you can do your standard accounts argument and argue that it's really working gas, et cetera, whereas if you believe in incentive and it’s important, then I don't see why you would be arguing that a hundred percent of the gain should go to the ratepayers.  You either believe in incentive or don't.

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  Well, we do believe in incentive, I think, but the point is I think incentive goes both ways and, yes, there needs to be incentive to disposal of assets when they’re no longer -- but the flip side of that is, if the shareholder portion is too high, then there is also an incentive to dispose of assets when they are still needed.

     MR. VLAHOS:  I guess that was the point that I was trying to make with Mr. DeRose, is whether I make a hundred thousand dollars or $10 million, it is extra money for me as a shareholder.  Therefore, the incentive is there.  What is the disincentive not to take whatever it is?  Whatever amount of money it is, it is extra money.

That's why, I mean, I'm a bit lost, I guess, in terms of the principle of the argument that a hundred percent is too much, 25 is too little, 50 adequate.  I'm looking for the rationale behind those numbers.

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  I think it's a question of degree.  I think you're correct.  And what previous Board decisions 

have attempted, I believe, to strike a balance between providing appropriate incentive and not providing an inappropriate incentive.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. DeVellis, could one make the argument that it is within the sort of utility's mandate, if you like -- and I'm using the word loosely here -- or there was a requirement, a regulatory requirement, that they have to look for those efficiencies in any event, without having to have any profit incentive behind it?

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  Yes, I believe --

     MR. VLAHOS:  Do you think it's a workable principle?

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  No, I believe -- there is a requirement on a utility to find those utilities -- incentives.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Right.

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  Efficiencies, I beg your pardon.  But the issue that we're talking about are whether the Board policy provides a correct incentive to the utility to find those efficiencies.  I mean, there's a difference between an obligation and an incentive.

     MR. VLAHOS:  But presumably, on a cost-of-service regulation, you could have asked the utility, you know: “Show me the last sort of report you've done on your storage, whether it is operating efficiently”; right?  You could do that, theoretically?


MR. DeVELLIS:  In theory.  But I think the problem is there is an asymmetry of information between a utility and its ratepayers.  We don't have all of the information that utility has.  So we do rely to some extent on what incentives are available to the utility to do the right 

thing.

     And, you know, I guess what we're saying is, it's not enough to simply say, “It's your obligation.”  We look for proper incentives.

     MR. KAISER:  Is that it, Mr. DeVellis?

     Mr. DeVELLIS:  Yes.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


Mr. Aiken, did you have something?


CLOSING ARGUMENT BY MR. AIKEN:
     MR. AIKEN:  Yes, I do.  I think I'm back on.


One of the benefits of going after virtually everybody else in the room is that I'm not going to repeat what's been said.  And in that vein, I can say that I adopt the submissions of Mr. DeRose on behalf of IGUA, with a couple of additional comments.

     The first one has to do with the 2.7 petajoules of gas that's remaining.  We've heard today it has been described as potentially surplus.  And I would ask Mr. Penny, in his reply submissions, to reconcile that with Union's evidence of February 2005, where, at question 46 -- and the question in the evidence was:

"Is there further surplus cushion gas available for disposition?"

     And the response in Union's evidence, from more than two years ago, is:

"Yes, there is approximately 2.7 pJ of cushion gas which is surplus to Union's operational requirements."


So more than two years ago it was determined that it was surplus to the operational requirements, and now Union seems to have backtracked and has indicated it's potentially surplus.  So again, I would ask Mr. Penny to address that.

     The second issue, that none of the preceding submissions have dealt with, I don't think, is the interest on the ratepayer portion.  I believe the Board approved a deferral account a little bit more than a year ago, that was to accumulate interest on the ratepayer portion, if the Board were to determine that there was a ratepayer portion.


And I would just submit that the Board should add that to whatever portion of the 13 million would be allocated to ratepayers.  And I believe, somewhere in the evidence, Union has indicated how much that would amount to under different scenarios.

     And then, of course, finally, the LPMA requests that it be awarded 100 percent of its reasonably incurred costs.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.


Mr. Wightman, did you have submissions?

     MR. WIGHTMAN:  Mr. Chair, I apologize.  I got caught -- I was thinking Mr. DeVellis was going to take about another minute, and we switched to Mr. Aiken.  I was wondering if I could ask a favour, that we could have a very short, maybe five- or ten-minute recess, so I can collect Mr. Buonaguro, who's involved next door?  It will be --

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Well, we'll take the afternoon break.  We'll take 20 minutes and come back and hear from you and Mr. Penny.


Thank you.

     --- Recess taken at 3:14 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:30 p.m.

     MR. MILLAR:  We appear to be missing the applicant, Mr. Chair.  I wonder if -- Mr. Buonaguro would like to go regardless.  Maybe I'll step out and see if I can find them.

     MR. KAISER:  We'll wait.  Mr. DeRose, can you see if they're in the hallway?

     MR. DeROSE:  Absolutely.

     MR. DeROSE:  I think I hear them coming.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Buonaguro.

     CLOSING SUBMISSIONS BY MR. BUONAGURO:

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  And thank you for the indulgence.  I've been flitting in and out doing double duty today over in the Hydro One hearing, so --

     MR. KAISER:  As long as you get paid double.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  Can I do that?  I'm just joking.

     MR. PENNY:  (Inaudible.)

     MR. BUONAGURO:  You'll note that I've had my colleague, Mr. Wightman, here to monitor the proceedings so I have an idea of what was argued before me, and based on that and on co-ordination of the other parties before, I can confidently say that I adopt the submissions of those who preceded me with respect to intervenor submissions, and would like to add a couple of points and connect them to some of the things that we heard in the opening argument from the company.

     The two concepts, the two references that I picked up from the opening argument, the first one came from the company's Book of Authorities, tab 7, page 7, where it refers to an American decision and the suggestion of the jurisprudence there which says that the policy there is to allow regulated companies to realize the gains or absorb any losses when selling a capital asset.

     The point that caught my interest there is the balance between realizing gains and absorbing losses.  And the idea there implicit is that, when the company has a capital asset, there is a risk involved that it may, in fact, incur losses on the disposition, depending on when it does and what the conditions are surrounding the holding to have asset over time.

     The second part that caught my attention was the disclaimer that there was no abuse of monopoly power in this particular transaction.  While I wouldn't necessarily call what has been done here an abuse of any particular power, I think it is important to note that it is in a monopoly context that this particular transaction or the particular value that we're talking about here accrued over time and eventually was realized.

     Once cushion gas is put into rate base, the utility receives, essentially forever, return on investment, protection with respect to any associated capital taxes, and in a funny sort of way they actually get storage of that gas paid for by ratepayers over time.  This is the context in which the cushion gas, once acquired, accrues value over time, over the course of 20 years.  Which got me to thinking: if I were a monopoly utility operating in Ontario how would I duplicate this sort of transaction?  How would I go about it?  And essentially, I would have to spend approximately $664,000 to buy gas, I'd have to find somewhere to store it, and I'd have to sit on it for about 20 years or so.  Apparently I think it's approximately 20 years, I think, almost to the day.  Over that time I could expect to realize a significant capital gain, assuming that gas prices went up over time.

     In this case I would have realized a gain of, I think it's approximately 2,000 percent.

     The problem is I would never do that, and I wouldn't do that because I don't have the same advantage as the utility has when I go through that sort of transaction.  I don't get ratepayers to pay a return on the equity -- or a return on that investment over time in what is called rate base.  And I don't get, for example, free storage for that asset over the 20 years while it accrues over time.  And I would probably be forced to dispose of it over a much earlier time than I would normally, if I hadn't been operating in the monopoly context, using it to provide storage services, which I'm paid for, to my ratepayers.

     The point being is that, one, there is really no risk associated with the transaction from the company's point of view.  And risk is usually cited as one of the reasons why there should be a corresponding gain when an opportunity is realized.

     The second point is that this is an opportunity which I would suggest is rooted in the monopoly business.  You can only do this because of their position as a regulated monopoly.  Is it an abuse of that power?  I don't think so, necessarily.  That's not the point.  The point is that only in this context could this particular opportunity be created, and therefore exploited, and for that reason I think that it is legitimate to share the gains with ratepayers.

     I would like to point out that I would submit that there is a similar analysis which was adopted by the Board 

in the NGEIR proceeding, which appears at tab 1 of the authorities provided by Union, at page 100 of the NGEIR decision.  And I'm reading from the section that starts with "Board Findings."  I can conveniently refer to the excerpt which the Board included, which is, as it happens, 

an excerpt from VECC's submissions in NGEIR, and I'll read it for record.

     This has to do with the finding of the Board that ratepayers should gain a substantial -- in terms of the actual decision, have 90 percent of the gains associated with transactional services.  

Reading from the decision, it says:

"In Union's case, the assets underpinning the short-term storage and balancing services sold in the ex-franchise market are presently included in rate base.  In the case of Enbridge, all of the assets underpinning their transactional services sold in the ex-franchise market are included in rate base.  As stated earlier, VECC views it as highly inappropriate for the utilities to seek the entire margin associated with these assets, given that they have been substantiated by captive ratepayers who have paid in rates for the full opportunity cost of the associated capital investment, including a fair return on equity, along with overhead costs and direct operational costs associated with providing the services.  In VECC's view, utilities should be required to provide a rationale for receiving any of the associated margins, given their earlier-mentioned obligation to optimize the use of utility assets."

      The quote is preceded with the note from the Board that the Board concurs with VECC's final argument on this point.

     Now, it's not a direct analogy, but it's this type of reasoning that I'm advancing to this Board in terms of why it is that ratepayers should substantially share in the capital gains.  It's the interaction between utility with ratepayers in the monopoly provision of, in this case, storage services on behalf of ratepayers that creates the opportunity which was ultimately exploited.  And for that reason the burden, which is suggested in the Enbridge decision, the burden is actually, I would argue, on 

the company to explain why it should get part of the margin 

as opposed to ratepayers.

     Subject to any questions, those are my submissions.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Penny.

     MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, if I may, there are some very 

brief submissions from Board Staff.

     MR. KAISER:  Sorry, go ahead, Mr. Millar.


SUBMISSIONS BY BOARD STAFF:

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  As I say, I will be quite brief.  I will not be making a submission as to what the actual allocation should be, or whether there should be a split at all, for that matter.  But I thought it would be useful to review how the Board has dealt with the proceeds from nondepreciable asset sales in the past.

Mr. Penny took you to a case from 1984 in which the Board declined to split any of the proceeds with ratepayers, but the Board's more recent practice, I think, has been quite different.

     Mr. Virlaney is passing out what, in fact -- it's already on the record.  It's actually from Union's prefiled materials before the motion on this matter was heard back in April of 2006.  Although Union filed this, it's an affidavit by the then-Board General Counsel, George Vegh.  

These were the materials that were filed on behalf of 

the Board at the ATCO case before the Supreme Court.  And I don't actually intend to make much of this affidavit itself.  I think it's just useful because it summarizes the Board's practice over the past decade or 15 years or so.

     The cases are referred to in this affidavit, and they are included in the pre-filed materials.  I haven't run off all the cases here.  But they are on the file for this matter.  And we do have some -- I believe we're passing out the copies.

     Mr. Chair, perhaps we should give this an exhibit number.  It is already on the record, but I think we've made a practice of marking these.  So with your permission, this will be Exhibit K1.5.

     EXHIBIT NO. K1.5:  AFFIDAVIT
     MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, Mr. Vegh in his affidavit refers to -- well, to three or four cases.  I'm just going to talk about the first three.

     The first case is a Consumers Gas Company Limited -- you can see that at paragraph 15.  And as Mr. Vegh notes in his affidavit, starting at paragraph 16, he says:

"The Board noted that prior to this decision its practice in deciding on these issues had been inconsistent."

     And I think we can see that.  Certainly, Mr. Penny has brought forward a case in which the Board decided not to split the proceeds from the sale of non-depreciable assets.  I believe there are cases that went the other way.  I don't intend to pull any of them up here, but I think Mr. Vegh is correct here when he says the Board had not necessarily been consistent.


However, starting with this case, it's my position that the Board has pretty much always followed the same practice, which is to split the gains from such sales 50/50 between the ratepayer and the shareholder.


Of course, there's the case referred to in Exhibit A.  That's the Consumers Gas Limited case from 1991, I believe.  The second case, if you turn the page, Mr. Vegh refers to another Enbridge case.  This is RP-2002-0133.  This is at paragraph 18.


This case actually dealt with a settlement agreement related to the proceeds from a non-depreciable asset sale.  But this settlement was approved by the Board and did make its way into a rate order, and here again the assets were -- the proceeds, pardon me, were split 50/50 as between ratepayer and the shareholder.

     And finally, there's a case from Natural Resource Gas, RP-2002-0147/2002-0446.  It has two numbers for some reason.  That's highlighted at paragraph 19.  And it's also -- the case itself is, of course, in the evidence, though I haven't reproduced it here.  And in this case the Board also chose to split the proceeds of an asset sale 50/50 between ratepayers and shareholders.

     And quite frankly, Mr. Chair, I don't think that there's any serious dispute that in the past, I don't know, dozen or so years that this has generally been the Board's practice.


And I don't mean to say, of course, that the Board is bound by this.  The Board will have to consider each case on its own merits.  And Mr. Penny has his arguments why you should go one way, and my friends amongst the intervenors will argue the other way.

     However, I thought it would be helpful to put the Board's most recent practice on the record.

     Mr. Chair, I plan to touch very briefly on just a couple of points that Mr. Penny made in his argument-in-chief.


The first relates to the harm test.  And Mr. Penny, amongst other things, relied on what he's saying is the fact that there has been no harm to ratepayers resulting from the sale of cushion gas.  In fact, as he says, there may, in fact, be some benefit to the sale.


The harm test is, in fact, referred to in the ATCO case.  And he may have quoted it from there, but you can see it in that case.

     In my submission, however, this test -- the harm test itself -- relates to a tribunal's power to grant or refuse the actual sale of an asset.


As a reviewing Panel found in the cushion gas case, the Board here is not dealing with an asset sale approval.  And in fact, Union never sought approval for the sale.  You've heard submissions on that from Mr. Penny and others.


What we're dealing with here is a Section 36 issue, which is a just and reasonable rates issue.  So in my mind, the test, therefore, is not whether there is harm -- we shouldn't be using the harm test -- but the test, in fact, is whether the allocation or lack thereof results in a just and reasonable rate.


So I think I take a slightly different view regarding what test you should be applying.

     And Mr. Chair, finally, Mr. Penny took you to the issue of retroactivity.  He mentioned that he made very similar arguments before Messrs. Vlahos and Kaiser on the Motions Day back in -- pardon me, not the Motions Day, but the argument we heard back in April of 2006.  He made submissions on that.  So perhaps I can remind you that I also made submissions on this very point.

     MR. KAISER:  Did we accept your submissions?

     MR. MILLAR:  Well, I think you did, but I think perhaps for Ms. Chaplin's benefit, and perhaps to refresh the memory of Messrs. Kaiser and Vlahos, if you wish to review them in their full majesty, they're certainly there in the transcript, but I think I'll just provide a brief overview of what my submission was at that time.

     Mr. Penny, I think his argument is twofold -- and he can correct me if I am wrong.  But his first point, I think, is that the Board is prohibited from making retroactive rate orders.


However, even if that's not true, even if there's not a prohibition in this case, I think his second argument, or perhaps his only argument -- I see him shaking his head -- is that there are public-policy reasons why the Board should refrain from applying rates retroactively or retrospectively if they can avoid it.

     So to deal with the first issue, I don't think there is any legal prohibition for you applying rates retroactively in this case.  And I went back to the transcript, and I pulled up my argument from there.  And what I did for the Panel in that case was to take us back to the very beginning, how this entire case started.  And I believe it was --

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar, retroactivity isn't even before us.  We're acting pursuant to an Order of the Board on January 30th.  And what we were mandated to do had nothing to do with considering the issue of retroactivity.

     MR. MILLAR:  Well, Mr. Chair, if you're not going to consider the issue of retroactivity, that's fine with me.

     MR. KAISER:  Well, no, I'm asking you, do you agree with that?

     MR. MILLAR:  I agree that retroactivity is not an issue here that you are entitled to, and perhaps I'll skip that argument and move on to the second part, which is: Mr. Penny raises the point that it's contrary to public policy to apply rates retroactively.  And generally, I agree with that point.  The Board shouldn't be doing that unless there is a good reason to do so.

     But in this case the sale occurred in 2004, after the 2004 rates case, which I think was heard in 2003.  And the Board asked Union to track the proceeds from that sale so it could deal with it in the future.  And, of course, the reason for doing that is because they didn't know what the proceeds would be at that rates case.

     So in this type of instance -- I guess you could perhaps forecast what the proceeds would be.  But I don't think the Board knew exactly when it would -- when the sale would take place, and the prices fluctuate, of course.


So without knowing what the proceeds would be -- and, in fact, how much cushion gas was sold -- because as we've heard, there still is surplus or potential surplus cushion gas.  So there were simply too many X-factors at that time for the Board to make an informed opinion as to what the proceeds would be.

     So for that reason they ordered Union to track that money so that, when the amount became clear, they could decide how to dispose of it.


So whereas I generally agree with Mr. Penny that the Board should avoid retrospective rate orders where possible, in this case there really wasn't another alternative.

     And, Mr. Chair, of course, subject to any questions that you or your fellow Panel members might have, those are my submissions on this matter.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

     [Board confers]

     Mr. Penny?


CLOSING REPLY ARGUMENT BY MR. PENNY:
     MR. PENNY:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chairman.


Just dealing with that last point, perhaps my initial submission wasn't clear, but I agree with you that, to the extent that this retroactivity formed the basis of an argument that the Board had no jurisdiction, that issue was dealt with, and we're here today not dealing with that.


I'm simply raising it, assuming that it doesn't create -- all I'm saying is, assuming it doesn't create a bar to you doing it, it's a relevant consideration in whether you should do it.  And that -- it amounts to no more than that.

     I want to start with the "gas is gas" and the "cheap gas" argument, because most of the intervenors relied on the argument.  And I have, I guess, three -- I think three core submissions, and perhaps some smaller bits and pieces around the margins.


But the first submission that I have is that that argument, in my respectful submission, has been resolved by the Board's decision in the -- from the re-hearing of the jurisdiction motion, and the basis for the Board's jurisdiction has been clearly established as deriving from Section 36(2), the jurisdiction to fix just and reasonable rates.

     You'll recall that this argument, the gas -- the "cheap gas" argument is based on Section 36(1).  That's the section that requires an Order of the Board to sell gas, among other things.


And I think, Mr. Kaiser, you raised the issue with one of the intervenors in their submissions, as to whether the argument was that Union needed approval to do that.


And there was some, I think, some -- I don't mean this in a mean-spirited way, but some bobbing and weaving around that issue, that the fact is that it logically follows from that argument that this should have been treated as commodity that Union required some kind of an order to be able to sell it.  If they're right about that, then what Union did was without an order.  Or to reverse that, then, Union required approval of the Energy Board to make that sale, because that's what section 36(1) says.

    The Board's decision -- you probably got, again, zillions of copies of this, but in the supplementary evidence, we have attached the Board's decision on the re-hearing motion.  It's appendix D to that evidence.  I think, unfortunately, we didn't number all the pages.  But if you can find it, it's -- and I'm referring to the Board's decision on the re-hearing motion of January 30, 2007, a decision of Vice-Chair Nowina and Mr. Sommerville.

     What I want to refer to starts on page 9 of that decision.

     In the -- I guess, second full paragraph, partway through that paragraph, just after citing section 43, the Board says:

"Union did not seek, nor could it have sought any form of approval from this Board with respect to its decision to sell the cushion gas.  This Board has not made, nor could it have made, any finding with respect to the effect of the divestiture of cushion gas on Union's distribution customers."

     Then it goes on to say:

"What Union has done is apply for distribution rates to govern its gas distribution business.  As an integral part of that application, it seeks direction from this Board as to how the proceeds of the sale of cushion gas should be accounted for in its revenue requirement, which is a key component of the rates it is authorized to charge its customers."

And then on the next page, page 10, in the second full paragraph, the last two sentences:

"The Board discusses the fact that, with respect to its power to set just and reasonable rates and the means by which it does this."

     It's clear when you read that that it can use whatever technique it considers appropriate in the setting of just and reasonable rates, and you'll see it says:

”A plain reading of section 36 indicates this Board has been very broadly authorized by the Legislature to make just and reasonable rate orders.”

     So, in my submission, it's clear that the Board was founding its jurisdiction on the strength of the power to set just and reasonable rates.  And they repeat this issue about the powers and whether it was necessary for Union to have approval or not in another place in that decision, but it doesn't matter.

     My point is simply this.  Two things.  The passage from page 9 that I read simply could not be the case if my friends’ argument on the “gas is gas” or the “cheap gas” argument were right.

    That argument was before the Board.  They presented it in "all of its Majesty," as Mr. Millar referred to it.  They relied heavily on it, almost exclusively on that argument, and that wasn't the basis that the Board decided its jurisdiction on.  It was just and reasonable rates, not the power to approve commodity sales.

     In saying that Union did not seek nor could it have sought, and in saying that the Board has not made nor could it have made an order -- it necessarily requires the conclusion that that argument was rejected, because otherwise, that's not true.  Otherwise, Union did have to seek an approval.  And otherwise the Board did have the power to make a determination.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Penny, if I could follow that up.  

When the company sells land, an asset like land, it doesn't require an order of the Board, right?

     MR. PENNY:  Subject to section 43; that's correct.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  But the revenue or any capital gain that arises from that sale invariably has become an issue before the Board, not only in terms of Union but Enbridge, and Northern and Central before that, and ICG, and others.  I'm just wondering what turns on it. 

If no order is required to sell land, and no order is required to sell cushion gas, aren't we two in the same boat?

     MR. PENNY:  I think those two are in the same boat.  My friends' argument on this, the “cheap gas" argument, is that on the instant that the cushion gas was determined to be surplus to utility needs for storage purposes, that it was instantly transmogrified into commodity, and we had to give that commodity to the system sales customers at original cost.  That's the argument.

     MR. KAISER:  But isn't that different?  You can't sell 

working gas without an order.

     MR. PENNY:  That’s right.

     MR. KAISER:  And the Board said --

     MR. PENNY:  We didn't need an order.

     MR. KAISER:  You didn’t need an order.

     MR. PENNY:  And it couldn't have granted one.

     MR. KAISER:  Right.  So you say therefore it couldn't have been working gas.

     MR. PENNY:  It couldn't have been working gas.  That argument has already been rejected.  That is my first submission. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  Sir, what would distinguish, though, here, cushion gas from land when we talk about disposition of capital gains?  Because both of them don't require an order.

     MR. PENNY:  Nothing.  Nothing.  The argument I'm addressing right now, Mr. Vlahos, doesn't involve the consideration of what to do with the gain.  It involves the argument that it was commodity, and instantly, therefore, had to be given to the ratepayers because it was necessary.  

They say it was necessary to serve the public because you have to give gas to the public.  That's their argument.  I'm saying that argument doesn't wash, in the circumstances of this case.

     MR. VLAHOS:  But when you come to the point of disposition of the gain, I would hope you would equate it to --

     MR. PENNY:  I equate land and cushion gas in a general way, although you've heard me -- and I'm going to come back to this -- that land and cushion gas are different because the sale of cushion gas creates this valuable asset.  But in general terms I agree with what you've said.

My position is that the land and the cushion gas raise similar issues.  But that's as distinct from treating it as commodity, which raises a completely different issue.  And I say that that has nothing to do with this case.

     The second point I want to make about that is, and I'm 

not going to repeat my arguments --  I will say, though, that we addressed this "gas is gas" is "cheap gas" argument at considerable length in the motion before you last April, and I would like to simply put on the record the places where you can find the reference to those arguments, because I do rely upon those for all of the detail and the substance of our position on this issue.

     In the written submission that we filed, which is in, again, a brief that was filed with the Board last fall, called "Schedules to Written Submissions," that has a copy 

of our written submission.  Our submission on this issue about "gas is gas" starts at page 40, paragraph 171 of that written submission, and it's dealt with in the transcript of the oral argument starting on pages 18-31 in the argument-in-chief, and pages 180 and 181 in the reply.

     The essential point, I think, that comes out of those submissions, and I'll use Mr. Warren's argument as the example -- the essential point, in my submission, is that the argument is tautological.  They say the loss to the ratepayer is they didn't get the benefit of the cheap gas. 

That is entirely tautological, in my submission.  It assumes what it seeks to prove.  It assumes, as I think Mr. Kaiser asked at one point, that they have an entitlement to that.  That is, of course, the very issue that is before you -- is whether they have any entitlements to that benefit.

     It doesn't advance the argument, in my submission, 

to say, well, the harm is that we didn't get the benefit of being given that cheap gas.  That's the very issue, is whether Union has to give away a valuable asset at cost to the ratepayer.  And, as I've submitted, I say that the Board has already dealt with that issue.

     So I say that it's entirely tautological.

     Then coming to the Uniform System of Accounts, the argument is that it ought to have been reclassified.  And I will say that on the moment that Union decided that some portion of cushion gas was surplus to its needs, it instantly was transmogrified from being a capital asset in storage to being a commodity.

And it's interesting; although this has been asserted by all of my friends, no one explains why, or what it is about the operation of the Uniform System of Accounts or even in principle why that's so.  And that's, in my submission, because there isn't any reason why that's so.  There has been a -- I want to say two things in particular.

     First of all, a lot of emphasis has been placed upon 

the note to provision 458 of the Uniform System of Accounts; that's the provision that calls for base pressure gas.  And it says:

"This account shall include the cost of gas and underground storage that is required as base pressure for the operation of underground storage."

     And my friends then go, “Ah, yes, but you have to look at the note.  It says gas deliveries or withdrawals from underground storage for customer consumption shall be charged or credited to account 152, gas and storage available for sale.”

     They then make the leap to say, well, if you decide that you don't need this base pressure gas any more, then you have to put it into the customer sale account.  That's not, in my submission, what it means at all.  And that's for two reasons.

     One, you have to look at what the Uniform System of Accounts tells you to do with non-depreciable assets, which base pressure gas is.  And that is -- well, in my brief it's got -- it's at page 20.  I don't know if you'll be able to turn it up, but I can read it.  It's quite short.


There's a Section B called "non-depreciable plant".  And it's page 20 of the brief we filed with the Board.  And it says:

"When non-depreciable plant is no longer required for utility purposes..."

     I'm sorry, it says:

"When non-depreciable plant is sold, the book value of such plant shall be credited to the applicable plant account.  Any profit or loss, if material, shall be recorded in the income statement as an extraordinary item or an account number 171, extraordinary plant loss, as applicable."

     So -- and I made this submission before you last April -- so when the cushion gas became surplus to Union's utility needs, it didn't instantly become a commodity.  It wasn't bought for that purpose, and it wasn't sold for that purpose.  It wasn't sold for the purpose of Union's customers' consumption.


The Uniform System of Accounts tells you what to do with a non-depreciable asset when it's sold, and that is to record the gain on the income statement as an extraordinary item.

     If the purpose, in my submission, of the note to Section 458, base pressure gas, was to say, well, if you don't need it any more, you have to reclassify this, then it wouldn't be a note.


All the note is telling you is that if you're thinking -- if you've bought this for purposes of consumption, for resale to customers, then it shouldn't be going in the base pressure account, it should be going in the working gas account.  That's all that note means.


If that note was intended to mean that if at some point in the future, you determine that you actually don't require as much base pressure gas as you need, if it was intended to mean, well, at that instant in time, then you have to turn it into a commodity, then it wouldn't be a note, in my submission.  There would clearly be a provision to deal with that.  So it wasn't intended to deal with that circumstance at all.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Penny, while you're on that --

     MR. PENNY:  Yes.

     MR. KAISER:  -- you recall that one of your witnesses spoke about the loss on extraordinary -- this is the natural-gas vehicles.  And I think the point was that that was borne entirely by the shareholder.

     MR. PENNY:  That's correct.

     MR. KAISER:  What's the distinction between that transaction and this transaction, in your mind?  Just that one was a depreciable asset and one was a non-depreciable asset?  In other words, you followed the system of accounts with respect to the natural-gas vehicle.

     MR. PENNY:  Yes.

     MR. KAISER:  And you're saying that's a section of the accounts that applies here, and we did what was expected of us.

     MR. PENNY:  Yes.

     MR. KAISER:  There it was the loss, albeit a loss.  Nobody was fighting over the loss.

     MR. PENNY:  Mm-hmm.

     MR. KAISER:  They only fight over gains, it seems.  That was borne entirely by the shareholder.

     MR. PENNY:  Yes.

     MR. KAISER:  What's the distinction between the two transactions?

     MR. PENNY:  Well, structurally, I would say "no".  I mean, I think that one involved non-depreciable property, one involved depreciable property.  And our position -- I think our position is clear on this.  It was in the earlier written submission we filed a year ago.


Depreciable property is a little more complicated, because as long as the pool of assets in that pool continue on a go-forward basis, then gains or losses are kind of left in the pool, and there's no ultimate reconciliation, if you will, until such time as the pool is terminated for some reason.

     So NGV, that happened because the program was phased out, so that pool wasn't there any more.  And we say that as a matter of principle, that when that happens, if there is -- and on disposition of the assets, if there is a gain up to original cost, that that would actually go to benefit the ratepayer, because it would mean that they had been over-depreciated, if you will.  But that never happens, because depreciable assets are almost never worth more than they were.

     But in theory, we would say that if you sold for more than original cost, then we would give back the over-depreciation, in effect.  But we would say that if it's sold for more than original cost, then the difference between original cost and that would be for the account of the utility only.


And -- but -- and we say that if we've under-depreciated and the pool comes to an end, then that's a shareholder hit.  And that's what happened with NGV, and it's also -- Ms. Elliott explained that's what happened with the plane also.


But those are slightly unusual situations, in the sense that pools of depreciable assets don't come to an end very often.  But I suppose sales of land don't take place very often either.  But subject to that, I don't think there's any difference, structurally, between the two.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Penny, I'm not sure, are you talking about the sort of the structural differences, similarities?  I'm just wondering whether we're actually doing ourselves a favour by bringing the NGV issue in this issue that we have before us, simply because one is -- a non-utility program always has been, or at least in recent years it has been -- it's not part of rate base.  You can correct me if I am wrong on this one.  It was eliminated from -- before we got to rate base, to set just and reasonable rates for the remaining customers.


What we are talking about here, it was something that was in rate base.  So I just wonder whether we are confusing the record --

     MR. PENNY:  Mr. Vlahos, I'm almost -- I'll check, and if what I say is wrong, we'll get back to the Board, but I'm almost positive that the NGV assets were in rate base.

     MR. VLAHOS:  But it was -- even that, it was a non-utility program.  It had a different status than the cushion gas.

     MR. PENNY:  Well, I mean, water-heaters were, in that sense -- but they were in rate base, and the ratepayer got the benefit of the revenues, and that --

     MR. KAISER:  Well, that's really what I was driving at.  I wanted to know whether -- I was stumbling around, wanting to know whether the NGV was in rate base.

     MR. PENNY:  Yes.  I'm almost positive it was.


And the point -- and I don't disagree that it's a bit of a red herring.  The only reason it comes up is it demonstrates that we're not being selective.  We're being consistent.

     MR. KAISER:  Well, that's what I said.  I'm trying to figure out if there's some element of fairness here. 

In the case of certain transactions, where you apparently follow the same section in the standard of accounts, the shareholder gets to eat all of the loss.

     MR. PENNY:  That's correct.

     MR. KAISER:  But if there's a gain, then we're into a different --

     MR. PENNY:  That is absolutely our position.  It's the only reason why -- in my submission, it's the only reason why it's relevant.  We say we are not cherry-picking here.  We're consistent.  We have a principled position, and the principled position is that if there's losses, we cannot recover those from the ratepayer, and if there's gains -- and it all goes back to my first point in my argument, really, that, who's at risk?  And we say we're at risk.  They pay the carry on the asset, but that's it.


And if the value goes up or down -- now, Mr. -- I've forgotten who said this.  Somebody said that, well, you're not really at risk, because if the value goes down, the rate base doesn't go down.


But that's got really nothing to do with risk.  You can't have it both ways.  If you're going to have -- if you're going to use book value, then you use book value.


The alternative would be to use market value as the basis for rate base.  And I do not think that my friends would be very happy with using market value as the basis for rate base, because that would mean that rate base would be constantly growing.

     So you can't have it both ways.  If you're going to go with book value, then, I mean, sure, if the value goes below, then maybe it's overvalued.  But that's the deal.  The deal is, they get the benefit of it being book value, rather than being market value.  And I guarantee you that in 99.9 percent of the cases, that will work to the benefit of the ratepayer, not the utility.

     That's all I have to say, I think, on the "gas is gas" argument.  I did want to deal, though, with a follow-on from Mr. Warren's argument about his theory of sharing.

     His proposition was, well, there's a $12.9-million gain on the sale but, on the other hand, the utility has delivered $5.4 million worth of benefits through the S&T deferral account in selling the storage capacity that was freed up for the sale, so let's net them out and we'll call it fair.

     Mr. Warren is a clever lawyer.  He knows it's always good to offer something up on the other side, but he is really throwing a bone to make the process more palatable.  There is no relationship between those two things at all.  One, we're talking about the sale of the asset; the other, we're talking about additional revenues generated from the fact that there is now more storage.

It, in my submission, shows, if you will, the unprincipled nature of the proposal.

     Other than pure horse trading, there is no principled basis for doing that.  I would also add that the 5.4 million isn't the right number because, as the evidence clearly shows, and the witnesses testified to today, there are continuing benefits which will carry on into the future.  To the extent we're talking about short-term storage, that falls within the in-franchise designated piece, the 100 pJs, that benefit will continue on long into the future.

     If we're talking about net benefits, the 5.4 million isn't the right number.

Sorry, I did want to say one other thing about the "cheap gas" argument.  That is that this was advanced principally by the City of Kitchener and IGUA.  What I would say is that, again, if they're right, then that was commodity; Union had to give that commodity to system users at cost.  The only beneficiaries from that theory would be system sales customers, because they are the only ones that use Union commodity.  Everyone else buys their own commodity.  If we had to turn that gas into commodity, the only beneficiaries of that would be system sales customers.  The City of Kitchener is not a system sales customer.  IGUA is not a system sales customer.  They buy their own gas.  They would get no benefit whatsoever from that reclassification, as they call it.

      Mr. Packer also reminds me that that approach would generate a great deal of consternation with the brokerage community because that of course, would -- giving that cheap gas 20-year-old prices or whatever to system sales customers would artificially lower the system sales price that Union was offering to its customers, and that would create problems with market signals and undermine the QRAM process and so on, which was designed to try and keep a level playing field with the brokerage community.

         In Mr. DeRose's submissions, he referred to the SoCal case.  He was simply, I think, trying to make the point that there are ways to reclassify.  But he -- in his description of the case, I think, said everything that we need to know about the case for our purposes, which is that in that case it was the utility that asked for that 

reclassification; it wasn't the Board saying that they had to reclassify it.  The utility was asking for a reclassification, which is completely different than saying we had a legal obligation to do so.  In that case, the reason why they were asking for the reallocation is because they wanted to give the gas away, in effect, to their equivalent of the Winter Warmth program, and presumably they had sufficient reasons for doing so, whether there was some tax advantage to them or something for doing that.

The point is, this was all being done voluntarily; this wasn't pursuant to legal obligations being imposed upon the utility.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Penny, my interpretation of what 

Mr. DeRose was suggesting was not necessarily that it was a legal obligation, but that it was an example of good practice of a utility seeking to make the most effective use of its assets for the benefits of its ratepayers.  I thought that is how he was seeking to apply it.

     MR. PENNY:  I didn't hear the SoCal case itself 

being used in that context, but I did understand that 

Mr. DeRose's position was that we had an obligation to seek 

to deploy the assets.  But that really goes back to my first argument.  What Mr. DeRose is really saying is, you had the gas, your customers need to use gas.  Therefore you should have given that gas to the customers.  That's really the first argument.  That's the foundation of that position, in my submission.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Thanks.

     MR. PENNY:  Both Mr. DeRose and Mr. Ryder placed a good deal of emphasis upon the Board's reference in the decision we were looking at a few moments ago from January 30th, on this suggestion that allocations between the utility and its customers are necessary to curb possible misbehaviour.  The suggestion, I think, went so far to say that they were making, in effect, findings of fact on that decision on the specifics of this case.  It's that point that I want to address.

     I can understand, and I believe it would -- in the context of the issues we're dealing with today, understand 

and accept the desire of the Energy Board to have the jurisdiction to act to curb abusive monopoly power by something like opportunistic asset sales, but that, in my submission, is very different from coming to a conclusion about whether that was happening in a particular case.  And any fair reading, in my submission, of the Board's decision from January 30, on any fair reading, it was not making any determinations about the evidence in this case.  It was simply preserving to itself the ability to do that if it felt it was necessary or warranted in the circumstances.

     Here I say you have to ask yourself whether there is any evidence whatsoever to support the need for the exercise of this jurisdiction to curb opportunistic sales of assets.

There is no support for that concern in this case, in my respectful submission.  There isn't a title of evidence to suggest that there was anything opportunistic about this whatsoever.  That's why these questions of harm to the ratepayer and so on are so important in this case.

     The suggestion that Union might go off and invest in junior mining stocks now unless you allocate some of the gain to customers is entirely speculative; in fact, I think we heard a few of the submissions talked about possible problems in the future.  I don't think it's necessary to go and read it, but the ATCO case at paragraphs 67 and 77 of the majority decision, I think, tell you everything you need to know about that kind of speculation, which is -- the Board has ample power in the event that there is some -- not on the circumstances that were faced today, but some other circumstances in the future, to deal with that through its rate-making power or, alternatively, through its power to approve the sale of assets if they are necessary to serve the public.

     MR. KAISER:  Can I ask you with respect to that -- you've dealt with the harm.  The question I have for you is what kind of findings of fact, in your view, does the Board have to make to warrant an allocation of part of the proceeds to the customers?  If there was a finding of harm, you would say there could be an allocation, but absent a finding of harm, you would say there should be no allocation.  I take it that's your position?

     MR. PENNY:  I say a hesitant “yes” because I don't say that the only thing that you can look at is the issue of harm.  One of my friends was indicating that I'm trying to argue that that's some be-all and end-all test that defines the Board's jurisdiction.  In the context of these proceedings today, I am not taking that position.  I accept that you have jurisdiction that isn't limited to the finding of harm.

     MR. KAISER:  Right.

     MR. PENNY:  But I am saying that it's a very relevant factor in the exercise of the discretion that you have, and 

a very important one.

     MR. KAISER:  I understand.  The next factor is this so-called incentive.

     MR. PENNY:  Yes.

     MR. KAISER:  The need for incentive.  And the need for incentive drives an allocation in whatever proportions may be relevant.

     MR. PENNY:  Yes.

     MR. KAISER:  What finding of fact do you think we need to make, to conclude that an incentive is necessary here to get the utility to behave in this particular fashion?

MR. PENNY:  Yes, I'd turn it around a little bit to say, what disincentive do you have to create --

     MR. KAISER:  Or what disincentive?

     MR. PENNY:  But in general terms, in my submission, on the facts of this case, the utility has done exactly what you would want them to do.


What -- pre-NGEIR or post NGEIR, they've maximized the utilization of assets for not only their own benefit, but largely for the benefit of the people of Ontario and their customers.


So I guess part --

     MR. KAISER:  Is the starting point to the analysis, in your submission, that if we don't find harm or we don't find a need for an incentive, the shareholder gets to keep it all?

     MR. PENNY:  Yes.  I'm looking for a principled basis to justify why you should take something that would otherwise belong to Union and give it to the customers.  And from my -- other than the "gas is gas" argument and the incentive argument, I haven't heard anything from my friends.  And so I'm dealing with -- I'm trying to deal with those two issues.


But if there is a principled basis for doing that, then let's hear it.  But I'd say, well, one principled basis would be to say: well, if what you've done, if through some improvident sale of assets you have caused harm to the ratepayers, then that would be a basis for allocation, at least up to the amount of that harm.

     If you had some apprehension that something bad might happen because of utility conduct, then you might say: well, we need to create a disincentive for doing that.  But that's why I say, on the facts that -- you have to ask yourself, on the facts of this case, what apprehension could you possibly have that something bad is going to be done?

     MR. VLAHOS:  There's a point that Mr. Buonaguro spoke about, maybe a third issue, and that is the balance.  We talked about harm and incentive.


He also spoke about balance and whether we -- you know, the utility is being conferred a benefit that maybe was not intended, part of its mandate, to be in a utility.

     MR. PENNY:  Yes, well, I utterly rejected that suggestion, I must say, with the greatest of respect.  There is a balance.  I think the basis of that argument was that there's -- that the -- that with the benefit of hindsight, we now know that this particular asset is worth more than what was paid for it.  But of course, we know that in other cases -- for example, the sale of some of Union's land in the last five years -- that that wasn't the case.

     So it's not -- it seems to me to be very opportunistic to say, well, now that we know that the gas is actually worth 2 million instead of half a million or $664,000, that that means there's no balance.  That's totally hindsight, in my respectful submission.


But the balance is engaged by the interchange I was having with Mr. Kaiser a moment ago.  We don't -- the utility does not expect to be indemnified by the ratepayers against losses on the sale of capital -- of non-depreciable capital assets, and the balance, therefore, is that ratepayers ought to have no reasonable expectation of getting the benefit.  So that, in my submission, is the balance.


And the other -- I think the other source of -- or the other point that Mr. Buonaguro was trying to make on that was that somehow the return would be affected by this, that if Union were entitled to keep this gain, well, that means that it's less risky or that that would have to be taken into account.


And I say to that, first of all, as we know, these are extraordinary sales.  They don't happen all the time.  They're relatively rare.  As I say, it hasn't changed the fundamental balance.  If the fundamental balance was that there's no indemnity for losses -- therefore, no giving up of the gains -- then that's the same.

     And I guess the final point there would be that the return-of-equity formula, of course, has absolutely nothing to do with -- nothing whatsoever to do with the sale of non-depreciable assets.

     MR. KAISER:  So let me turn the question around.

     In a completely different world, you could have woken 

up one day and said, new technology allows us to reduce the amount of cushion gas and to release a whole package of new storage, and we need storage.


But let's suppose the price of gas had gone down instead of up.  You still might conclude, let's get rid of this cushion gas, because we need the storage.

     MR. PENNY:  Yes.

     MR. KAISER:  But at that point you would have to eat the loss, according to the standard accounting rules?

     MR. PENNY:  Absolutely.  Absolutely.  But we might well be willing to do that, because the upside of creating the storage was more valuable, and that would --

     MR. KAISER:  Right, was a rational decision.

     MR. PENNY:  Exactly.  And that's exactly the behaviour that you want to incent, it seems to me.

     MR. KAISER:  I think Mr. Vlahos was referring to what I call the windfall theory.  If something happens, and it's just a fluke, not driven by any behaviour on your part, it just happens, and whether it's the storage block in -- whether it's cushion gas, it just happens.  Nobody influenced the outcome.


In those circumstances, you throw up your hands, and you say, let's share it 50/50.  You don't subscribe to that, I take it?  You don't see the equity in that?


MR. PENNY:  I wouldn't see it that way, for essentially the reason that I think you, again, would need to step back and ask yourself, who bore the risk and who had the burden here?  Even though it was unexpected, even though it just fell out of the sky --

     MR. KAISER:  And when you say, “Who bore the risk,” you would be saying, “Listen, the price of this gas could have gone down, and if it had, we would have been stuck with it.”

     MR. PENNY:  Yes.  Yes.

     MR. KAISER:  So we had the risk.

     MR. PENNY:  Yes, because it goes into book value.  That's because it goes into book value, not market value.  Rate base is based on book value.  That's the deal.

     MR. VLAHOS:  I guess the risk is not only with respect to whether -- the revaluation of that asset over time.  It's also -- it's part of rate base.


And say you had a catastrophe in one of the wells.  That's part of rate base.  And the ratepayer would have been responsible, I would suggest to you, that it would be reasonable for the company to suggest the ratepayer should be responsible for the recovery of losses, or for rebuilding of the well, that it was not totally within the risk of the company.  So it --

     MR. PENNY:  It would depend.

     MR. VLAHOS:  -- it goes beyond the revaluation of the inventory of gas.  It goes into the actual physical structure of storage.

     So in that respect we can't totally eliminate the -- some risk that has been borne by the ratepayers over the years, as long as --

     MR. PENNY:  Well, as a general proposition, I think I would agree with that.  What we're dealing with -- we're not saying that there's no ratepayer risk ever about anything to do with the storage operations.  We're not going that far.  We're saying with respect to this particular asset there was no risk, because it's not -- it doesn't fail.


And the other thing I guess I would say to you, Mr. Vlahos, is that in order to answer that question, really, you would have to know the circumstances of what had happened, because if it happened through mismanagement, then of course everyone would be saying that that was imprudent, and the utility should not recover any of the cost required to fix the problem.

     MR. VLAHOS:  I guess the answer to my -- one of my suggestions is not as absolute as perhaps you portrayed it.

     MR. PENNY:  I don't disagree with that in the broadest sense.  I do, say, though, with respect to this particular 

asset, that it is absolute, just because there's no other --

     MR. VLAHOS:  Only on the revaluation.  Even -- if there is a risk with that asset, something going wrong with the well, one of the wells, some of the wells.  So there is still that risk there, out there, to be shared or to be allocated to someone, or perhaps shared.


But what you are pointing to is the revaluation of a specific asset, in this case the cushion gas.

     MR. PENNY:  Yes, which is really all we're -- which is really all we're -- I guess my point is, that's really all we're talking about today, is the difference between 664,000 and 2.9 million (sic).  We're not talking about any of these other things.  That's the issue.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  But you brought in the -- who carried the risk, and I guess we took the risk a little wider than just the risk of -- I think it's quite clear what we're talking about.  We're talking about the re-valuation of that commodity over time, and nothing else.

     MR. PENNY:  Right.  And that's because -- because, I would say, just to finish the dialogue, because that's the relevant risk for the purposes of what we're doing today.

     I'm sorry, Mr. Packer has said I said 2.9 million a couple of times, and I meant to say 12.9 -- so if the reporter can pick that up.

     I was going to say something about the 100 percent versus 25 percent incentives, but I think I heard, based on -- I heard questions from the Board Panel about whether that really makes any difference.


I simply -- my point in reply was going to be to say that it doesn't make any difference if -- on the relevant point.  If 25 percent -- if 100 per cent is going to incent someone to do something or something else, 25 percent is also going to incent them to do something or not do something.


So it seems to me, in my respectful submission, that trying to carve up the gain on the basis of incentives in that kind of way just doesn't work.

     Mr. DeVellis makes the -- made -- tried to make the point that all the information Union needed in order to decide about whether the 2004 cushion gas sale was appropriate or not was available in the summer of 2003.  The point I wanted to make there was that that is true with respect to the technical requirement.  In other words, did they operate the pool down to close to that level, and was there any adverse impact on the operation of the pool?  That part was true.  We did know that we could operate it to that level earlier than the spring of 2004.  

But the evidence at page 34 of the original evidence, in answer to question 47, the question was posed in the 

prefiled evidence:  “What are the criteria that Union will apply to make the determination about further surplus cushion gas dispositions?”  

The answer is:  

"The criteria that will influence Union's decision to sell additional cushion gas are" -- and then there are four points –- “gaining operational experience at the lower pressure thresholds in reservoirs where prior reductions of surplus cushion gas were made." 

That's Mr. DeVellis' point.  Then there are three more:

"Existence of market opportunities for sale of incremental storage capacity; incremental revenue and cash flow associated with the development of incremental storage working capacity; and net value realizable from the sale of cushion gas which was paid for and is owned by Union.”         

So, there was a technical requirement.  My only point 

is that there were more considerations than simply the technical requirement that Union brought to bear.  They 

wanted to weigh the value of the storage, the value of the cushion gas, and so on.

     It's not so simple as drawing a nice bright line once they had run through a cold winter and knew they could take the pressure down to that level.

     In the first time I have been urged to make a pointed reply, Mr. Aiken wants to know why we said before that there was 2.7 remaining and now we're saying it's “potential.”  I think we have always said it's potential.  Maybe the word "potential" wasn't in there every time, but if you read the evidence fairly, it's clear.  Even the original prefiled evidence makes it clear we were doing this in stages to make sure that nothing we did would adversely impact the integrity of the pool.  

In fact, it's the very next question.  Mr. Aiken focuses on question 46, where the question was, “Is there further surplus....".  It says, yes, there is approximately 2.7.

The very next question is the one I just read to you.  What are the other criteria?  The very first one was gaining operating experience.  We've always taken the position that it wasn't absolutely surplus.

     The suggestion that we've been somewhat hedging our bets and leaving rate payers to get the carry-on, the additional for that intervening time, in my submission 

is completely unfounded.  As I said earlier, until Union knows with reasonable comfort that it can operate the pools at the new levels, then it's not in anyone's interests for them to go out and reduce the cushion gas further.  It is in everyone's interests that that information be obtained and be verified, and then, if it is, further cushion gas sales will take place and that will, of course, again, benefit everyone.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Penny, I thought the notion was that the result could be that if you sell that extra 2.7 petaJoules, the result by keeping them there is that more carrying costs have been burdened by the ratepayers.

     MR. PENNY:  But that's --

     MR. VLAHOS:  To the extent that this potential has been identified some time ago and it may still be there, eventually to be sold for a profit that may be only going the shareholder, that is how I read Mr. Aiken's argument.  I could be off on this.  I'll read the record again.  But the result is that the ratepayer is carrying that burden –

     MR. PENNY:  Again, with the benefit of hindsight that's the result, but that's with the benefit of knowing that we know with certainty at some future point in time that the operation of the pool will not be disadvantaged.  But we don't know that today, so it's entirely prudent, 

and not unfair at all, in my respectful submission, to leave that in rate base.

It's needed today.  Without the information that the pool will operate satisfactorily at the new lower levels, we need that storage.  And so it is necessary to serve the public.  It's entirely appropriate that it remain in rate base.

     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.

     MR. PENNY:  I guess my point is, that circumstance is beyond our control.  We need some cold weather, which we haven't had for three or four years, in order to empty the pool in the relevant time frame.  

That hasn't happened, so the has company has prudently decided that it's going to leave it in there.  As long as it's being left in there, it's being left in there for a reason.  It's because in the company's judgment, today, it's necessary to leave it in there to benefit the ratepayers, to preserve the integrity of the pool.

     That's my response to that.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Which in retrospect, it may not have been needed but that's --

     MR. PENNY:  But that's always the case.  That's always 

the case.  We don't use hindsight in these assessments.  It may well be that there are lots of things that we don't need that people reasonably believed today we did.  And conversely, there is no doubt things that people reasonably believed they did not need, which it will turn out they did.

I had only one further point to respond to Mr. Buonaguro.  He was reading you from a passage of the 

NGEIR decision that dealt with the VECC argument.  I just wanted to make the point that that discussion was about the storage that was required to serve in-franchise customers, and that storage did stay in rate base.  The passage he was reading to you is a completely different case from the type of case we're talking about here.  We're talking about an asset that wasn't needed for regulated service to in-franchise customers.  The passage Mr. Buonaguro was referring to was the storage assets that were required for the provision of utility service.

     I simply wanted to make one point with respect to the cases that Mr. Millar -- the prior Board precedents.  Of course there are some mixtures, really, some different results in these cases.  My only point was that the only one of these that involves Union was the one that I cited to you.  The rest all involve other utilities.  

Those cases all involved land, and I simply wanted to say, again that the key difference between in case, involving cushion gas, and land, is that with land you don't create a concomitant enduring benefit, whereas with the sale of cushion gas you do on a unit-for-unit basis to create additional storage capacity, which is a benefit to customers.  In any event, in my submission, the land cases are distinguishable.

     Subject to any further questions, Mr. Chairman, 

those are my submissions in reply.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Penny.

     MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chairman, before we rise, I didn't want to interrupt Mr. Penny in his argument, but there is a point he made early on, beginning on the “gas is gas” issue, which in my respectful submission he should have made in his argument-in-chief.  He made the point that it was made by IGUA among others before.  That's the question of the effect of the Board's two decisions on the jurisdictional question.

     I think it more appropriately should have been made 

in-chief so that we could respond to it.  My point is that it is such a fundamental issue, Mr. Chairman, that I would like an opportunity to very briefly respond to the point Mr. Penny has made about that, if I might.

     FURTHER CLOSING SUBMISSIONS BY MR. WARREN:

     MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chair, Mr. Penny has said in his submissions that the first two decisions -- that is, of you and Mr. Vlahos, and then the January decision -- effectively disposed of this question of “gas is gas”, or 

“cheap gas”, as it was referred to today.

     In my respectful submission, with great respect to my friend, he is just wrong.  I would like you, if you wouldn't mind, to turn up page 9 of the January 30th decision.

     Mr. Penny points to the second full paragraph on that page, and he points in particular to the following sentence:

"Union did not seek, nor could it have sought any form of approval from this Board with respect to the decision to sell the cushion gas."

     He takes from that sentence, as I understand it, 

and draws the conclusion that -- or invites you to draw the conclusion that the Board was saying that it's effectively not dealing with this, with the possibility that this is "gas is gas".


But if you look at the preceding paragraph on that page, you see the context.  And the context is, the Board's discussing the different legislative framework.  It says:

"The Board's analysis of this submission begins with an observation that the statutory authority governing the OEB is markedly different than that governing the AEUB."

     And you will recall that in the ATCO case, the statutory provision required the utility to go to the Board for approval to sell the asset.  And all the Board is saying in the subsequent paragraph is that Union could not go before the Board, and the Board could not approve the sale of the asset.  The Board is not, in that passage, saying anything about whether there's a conclusion that the "gas is gas" argument, as we've put it, is a viable one.

     The second point that Mr. Penny takes you to is page 10 of your decision, Mr. Kaiser and Mr. Vlahos, which is towards the end of his material.

     And if you look at page 10, the second full paragraph, 

I quote:

"Here, the Panel is also dealing with a much broader question.  That is, in a rate case, can the consequences of the sale be taken into account, setting rates?  This is not a question of allocating proceeds to ratepayers.  It is a question of considering the consequences, positive or negative, of a sale, and the process of setting rates."

     They then quote ATCO, and then in the next paragraph following that quote, it says:

"In summary, Section 36 of the OEB Act gives this Board very broad jurisdiction in a rate-setting case to approve a sale or not approve a sale of gas, and to consider the consequences of a sale.  That ability is clearly contemplated by the Supreme Court of Canada decision in ATCO, which may be a direct response to the intervention by the Ontario Energy Board in the proceeding."

     And then the Board goes on to say:

"Whether there are any consequences or how they will be dealt with in setting rates is a matter to be addressed another day."

     So in my respectful submission, with great respect to my friend, he's just wrong in the interpretation of that.  This Board has not, in those two decisions, resolved the issue of whether or not this should be considered a sale of gas.


You may for all kinds of other reasons decide that that's not an appropriate analytical framework, but you're not precluded from doing -- from considering that question by those two decisions.


Thank you for your indulgence in allowing me to make that submission.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.

     MR. PENNY:  May I respond to that, Mr. Chairman?

     MR. KAISER:  Yes.


FURTHER CLOSING REPLY ARGUMENT BY MR. PENNY:
     MR. PENNY:  Mr. Chairman, I made no reference to the original decision, and I think -- so that, it seems to me, was inappropriate for Mr. Warren to take that opportunity to get into it, when he didn't make that submission before.


But if you fairly read even the original decision, in my submission, you will find that it did, in effect, reject that argument by -- on the basis that it really just punts the same question to a different forum, I think is the way that it was dealt with.

     The other point that I would make is that, although the Energy Board was talking -- in the re-hearing decision of January 30, although they were talking here specifically about distinguishing the case from the AEUB, my point is that the Board was well aware, in that decision, that my friends' position was that it was a sale of a commodity that should have been reclassified and required an order of the Board in order to sell, and not having got that, that the utility was offside the legislation.

     They were very aware of that, because that was the burden of my friends' submission, not only Mr. Warren, but Mr. Thompson and others.


So it's, in my submission, not an appropriate reading of that passage to say it's purely restricted to Section 43 in the ATCO decision and what the AEUB had.  They were well aware that this argument was out there, because it was made in spades in their submissions on the re-hearing.  So in my submission, it is a fair reading of this provision to say that it's responsive to that issue.

     Thank you, sir.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


Mr. Millar?

     MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I don't think there's anything else, but we do have one final administrative matter that I overlooked.  We did not give exhibit numbers to Union's written submissions or their book of authorities.  So if I could just deal with that quickly.

     1.6, K1.6, will be the written submissions.


EXHIBIT NO. K1.6:  WRITTEN SUBMISSIONS

MR. MILLAR:  And K1.7 will be the book of authorities.

     EXHIBIT NO. K1.7:  BOOK OF AUTHORITIES
     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

     Thank you, gentlemen.  Thank you, ladies.  We'll reserve on this and get you a decision as quickly as we can.

     --- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:45 p.m
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